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Notice to Readers

This Audit Risk Alert is intended to provide auditors of financial
statements of the high-technology industry with an overview of
recent economic, technical, and professional developments that
may affect the audits they perform. 

This publication is an Other Auditing Publication as defined in
Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 95, Generally Accepted
Auditing Standards (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec.
150). Other Auditing Publications have no authoritative status;
however, they may help the auditor understand and apply SASs.

If an auditor applies the auditing guidance included in an Other
Auditing Publication, he or she should be satisfied that, in his or
her judgment, it is both appropriate and relevant to the circum-
stances of his or her audit. The auditing guidance in this docu-
ment has been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest
Standards staff and published by the AICPA and is presumed to
be appropriate. This document has not been approved, disap-
proved, or otherwise acted on by a senior technical committee of
the AICPA. 

Written by J. Russell Madray, CPA
Edited by Lori L. Pombo, CPA

Technical Manager
Accounting and Auditing Publications

Copyright © 2004 by
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.
New York, NY 10036-8775

All rights reserved. For information about the procedure for requesting 
permission to make copies of any part of this work, please call the AICPA 
Copyright Permissions Hotline at (201) 938-3245. A Permissions Request Form
for e-mailing requests is available at www.aicpa.org by clicking on the copyright
notice on any page. Otherwise, requests should be written and mailed to the 
Permissions Department, AICPA, Harborside Financial Center, 201 Plaza Three,
Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881.
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1

High-Technology Industry 
Developments—2004/05

How This Alert Can Help You

This Audit Risk Alert can help you plan and perform your high-
technology industry audits. The knowledge delivered by this
Alert can assist you in achieving a more robust understanding of
the high-technology business environment in which your clients
operate—an understanding that is more clearly linked to the as-
sessment of the risk of material misstatement of the financial
statements. Also, this Alert delivers information about emerging
practice issues and about current accounting, auditing, and regu-
latory developments.

If you understand what is happening in the high-technology in-
dustry and if you can interpret and add value to that information,
you will be able to offer valuable service and advice to your
clients. This Alert assists you in making considerable strides in
gaining that industry knowledge and understanding it.

This Alert is intended to be read in conjunction with the AICPA
general Audit Risk Alert—2004/05 (product no. 022335kk).

Current Economic and Industry Developments 

For a complete overview of the current economic environment in
the United States, see the AICPA general Audit Risk Alert—
2004/05 (product no. 022335kk). 

General Industry Trends and Conditions

Although 2004 started off with a bang, spending on technology
began to decrease in the second half of the year, according to the
Gartner Technology Demand Index (TDI), an index included
in IT Watch, a monthly economic indicator service of Gartner,
Inc. (Gartner).
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Gartner attributes the trend to lowered business confidence.
However, respondent projections for 2005 technology budgets
moved upward slightly in August. Total external technology
spending budgets for the United States and Canada will increase
by 3 percent in 2005, according to IT Watch respondents.

While reported 2005 budgets for hardware will be largely un-
changed from 2004, Gartner predicts budgets will grow by 2 percent
for software, by 4 percent for external information technology
services, and by 7 percent for networking and telecommunica-
tions. Small businesses are driving the reported rebound in tech-
nology spending for 2005. Budgets reported by respondents with
technology spending authority in manufacturing, communica-
tion, and services industries are growing, as are government tech-
nology budgets. 

According to industry indexes and surveys, U.S. enterprises have
been spending below their budgeted levels. Gartner regards these
results as a powerful indicator of a lack of business confidence
causing enterprises to continue to defer discretionary spending.
Caution remains the norm for technology investment and expense. 

Current TDIs show underbudget spending is consistent through-
out the sectors tracked by IT Watch. Spending lags budgets in
hardware, software, networking/telecommunications, and exter-
nal services alike. Recent data suggests that spending on technol-
ogy staffing is increasing, although still falling short of budgeted
amounts. Staffing budget increases for next year are reported for
most large organizations.

What Is High Technology and What Are Its Industry 
Segment Conditions? 

It is difficult to find common ground on the precise definition of
the high-technology industry. According to the AEA (formerly
known as the American Electronics Association), the high-tech-
nology industry is made up of 45 Standard Industrial Classifica-
tion (SIC) codes. These sectors fall into three broad categories—
high-technology manufacturing, communications services, and
software and computer-related services. 

2
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High technology is a lot like quality—people know it when they
see it—but it is not easy to define. This means the definition of the
high-technology industry varies greatly depending on the combi-
nation of products and services selected to define the industry. For
the purposes of this Alert, we will use a definition that segments
the industry into five classifications—personal computers (PCs);
semiconductors; mainframes, servers, and storage; networking and
telecommunications equipment; and software and services.

Personal Computers

Consistent gains in commercial PC demand have led IDC, a
global market research firm based in Framingham, Mass., to raise
expectations for 2004 PC shipments to 176.5 million on growth
of 14.2 percent. Commercial PC shipment growth of 17.2 per-
cent in the second quarter was the highest since mid-1999, and
the fourth consecutive quarter over 13 percent, according to
IDC’s Worldwide Quarterly PC Tracker. Replacement PC pur-
chases remained the key engine of growth for the industry, as
worldwide PC shipments totaled 43 million units in the second
quarter of 2004, a 13.3 percent increase over the same period last
year, according to preliminary results by Gartner. Although
worldwide consumer growth met expectations in the second
quarter, growth is expected to slow from near 20 percent in the
second half of 2003 to only 9 percent in the second half of 2004.
Even with the slowdown in consumer activity, commercial
growth has led IDC to increase projections for total 2004 ship-
ment growth from a June estimate of 13.5 percent to a current
projection of 14.2 percent.

Despite the increase, second quarter growth accounted for 58
percent of the total change to 2004 shipment volumes, with only
42 percent falling into the second half of the year. In addition,
growth estimates for 2005 were lowered 0.2 percent to 10.5 per-
cent, and projections for growth in future years remain in the sin-
gle digits. Also, it is important to be aware of regional variations
in consumer and commercial growth.

According to IDC analysts, strong growth in Western Europe and
the rest of the world played a significant role in boosting second-
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quarter results, while growth in the United States missed forecasts
and slipped into single digits. Similarly, it’s important to note
that IDC lowered growth expectations for the consumer and
portable markets even though projections for overall growth have
increased slightly in the short term.

High growth in recent quarters is partially the result of a de-
pressed market in prior years. As the market recovery matures,
year-on-year comparisons will become more difficult, and growth
is expected to subside. 

The tempered forecast of the U.S. market is somewhat in con-
trast to higher growth elsewhere, particularly in Europe. Overall
market maturity in the United States and uncertainty in both
political and economic spheres led IDC to revise its forecast
modestly downward.

Short product life cycles are a fundamental characteristic of this
industry sector. For example, the life cycle of a desktop PC is
thought to be two years or less, and it is estimated that up to 50
percent of profits for PCs and related products are generated in
the first three to six months of sales. As a result, computer makers
face the risk of inventory obsolescence. (See the “Inventory Valu-
ation” section later in this Alert for a discussion of this issue.)

Semiconductors

Worldwide semiconductor revenue is forecast to reach $226 bil-
lion in 2004, a 27.4 percent increase from 2003 revenue, accord-
ing to the latest quarterly update by Gartner. 

While the market will experience strong growth this year, there are
concerns among vendors about the industry outlook. At the end of
the second quarter of 2004, semiconductor vendors and distribu-
tors reported a notable increase in inventory days on their balance
sheets. This brought a wave of concerns about excess supply. 

However, the Gartner Dataquest Semiconductor Inventory Index
showed inventories in the supply chain at the low end of the “cau-
tion” zone. Had the increased inventory been accompanied by a flat
or even falling semiconductor market, it would have been of grave
concern. In a rising market, increasing inventory levels are normal. 

4
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Despite the improving market conditions that semiconductor
vendors have enjoyed over the past several quarters and the ex-
pectation that revenue growth this year will be close to 30 per-
cent, this industry upcycle is notable in that few in the industry
have felt able to acknowledge it as a boom. According to Gartner
analysts, the hangover from the severe market downturn endured
in 2001 still lingers, just as concerns about the next downturn
have begun to worry semiconductor industry executives. The
classic signs of an approaching peak in the market—such as in-
creased channel inventory, increased capital spending forecasts,
and reduced device pricing—and lead times—which in the past
would have been treated lightly at this stage in the cycle—are
causing executives to be nervous.

Mainframes, Servers, and Storage

According to IDC’s Worldwide Quarterly Server Forecast, the
resurgence in demand for enterprise server solutions that began
late last year is expected to continue throughout 2004, expanding
worldwide spending for servers by 5 percent to $53 billion. IDC
expects the server market will achieve a compound annual growth
rate (CAGR) of 3.8 percent over the next five years, representing
a $60.8 billion opportunity in 2008. 

A good environment for hardware and software replacement and
migration is helping fuel new enterprise spending for informa-
tion technology (IT) infrastructure, according to IDC analysts.
IDC anticipates growing demand in emerging markets, such as
Eastern Europe and Asia, as well as mature markets like the
United States and Western Europe.

While vendors continue to compete very aggressively on price for
these customer dollars, demand has driven the number of servers
sold above the 20 percent year-on-year growth mark for the past
three quarters. There continues to be very strong growth in the
x86 industry standard server market—particularly for Windows
and Linux-based solutions. Growth has been strong for every-
thing from stand-alone systems in small offices to several hun-
dred node clusters in enterprise data centers.
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From a regional perspective, the United States will continue to
hold the greatest share of the worldwide server market through
the end of the forecast period, followed by Western Europe and
Asia/Pacific (excluding Japan). IDC expects the strongest growth
over the next five years to be in Central and Eastern Europe, as
well as the Asia/Pacific region, which are both expected to witness
a CAGR in excess of 6.5 percent. 

In terms of products, a key growth area will be the server blade
market, which is expected to reach $9 billion by 2008. Server
blades will represent nearly 29 percent of server unit shipments
by the end of the five-year forecast period. IDC believes the blade
or modular computing market is a new area of opportunity for
server vendors and will bring dramatic changes to the server land-
scape while creating new areas of demand for server management,
virtualization, network equipment, and clustering. 

Servers based on the Linux operating system will have compara-
ble market share numbers in 2008, representing approximately
29 percent of all server unit shipments and about $9.7 billion in
revenues. Microsoft Windows-based servers are expected to cap-
ture 60 percent of all server unit shipments in 2008 and represent
the largest server operating environment in terms of revenues
with $22.7 billion. IDC anticipates Windows and Linux servers
combined to total more than 50 percent of server market rev-
enues in 2008—up from just 37 percent in 2003. 

As with other segments of the high-technology industry, there is
the potential for rapid inventory obsolescence. As demand for
new types of servers and storage systems increases, older types
may become obsolete. As a result, you may need to consider an
increased level of risk associated with inventory valuations. (For a
further discussion, see the section titled “Inventory Valuation”
later in this Alert.)

Networking and Telecommunications Equipment

While segments of the U.S. telecom industry have faced intense
economic challenges, total spending in the U.S. telecommunica-
tions industry rose 4.7 percent in 2003, to an estimated $720.5
billion, according to the 2004 Telecommunications Market Review

6
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and Forecast, an annual study published by the Telecommunica-
tions Industry Association (TIA). 

Double-digit increases in wireless services, services in support of
equipment, specialized services (unified communications, video-
and audioconferencing, and high-speed Internet access) offset de-
creases in equipment spending and local- and toll-service rev-
enues. The U.S. telecommunications industry is predicted to
grow at a projected 9.2 percent compound annual rate between
2004 and 2007, reaching $1 trillion.

And a turnaround is in sight for U.S. telecommunications equip-
ment spending. The network equipment market bottomed out in
2003 at $14 billion, and a 2.3 percent increase to $14.4 billion is
predicted for 2004. Service providers are looking to voice over In-
ternet protocol (VoIP), bundled services, data transport, and TV
to generate additional revenue, which will require new invest-
ment in equipment. By 2007, network equipment spending will
total $18.5 billion, climbing at a 7.0 percent compound annual
rate from 2003. 

The enterprise equipment market expanded 3.9 percent to $94
billion in 2003. In the enterprise, the shift to Internet protocol
(IP) is boosting most segments of equipment spending. For in-
stance, after declining in the previous three years, the private
branch exchange (PBX) market bounced back in 2003 with a
12.0 percent increase, reaching $4.2 billion on the strength of
growing IP-PBX sales. Videoconferencing was the fastest-grow-
ing segment, jumping 28.6 percent and reaching $900 million. 

Spending on transport services was essentially flat in 2003 at $285
billion. Local exchange revenues went down 2.9 percent to $118
billion, following a 3.3 percent decrease in 2002. Toll-service spend-
ing fell 8.2 percent to $78 billion, its third consecutive decrease as
the shift from wireline to wireless in long-distance traffic continued.
Offsetting these declines in 2003 was a 14.3 percent increase
in wireless services to $89 billion, surpassing toll services for the
first time. The services market is undergoing a transformation as
more consumers are relying exclusively on wireless, VoIP is growing,
and the distinction between local and long distance is disappearing. 
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Broadband services continue to gain traction. Spending on high-
speed Internet access services (including cable modems, digital
subscriber line [DSL], fixed wireless, satellite, and fiber-to-the-
home) reached $13 billion in 2003, and TIA expects growth to
increase to $25 billion by 2007. The overall specialized services
category, defined above, is a rapidly growing segment of the in-
dustry, predicted to grow from $18.2 billion in 2003 to $34.7
billion in 2007. 

The U.S. wireless market consists of transport services, handsets,
infrastructure (including Wireless Fidelity (Wi-Fi) equipment),
and professional services in support of the wireless infrastructure.
Spending in 2003 totaled $134.5 billion, up 7.9 percent from
2002. The 2003 performance represents the first single-digit gain
in the wireless market following years of double-digit growth, in-
dicating that the market is approaching maturity. Wireless spend-
ing will grow at a compound annual rate of 9.1 percent between
2004 and 2007, reaching an estimated $190.8 billion. New ap-
plications, such as wireless Internet access, text messaging, instant
messaging, ring tones, wireless games, multimedia messaging ser-
vices, and Wi-Fi, will drive the market. Wi-Fi represents a small
but rapidly growing component of the wireless communications
services, and spending on Wi-Fi services is predicted to increase
from $21 million in 2003 to $270 million by 2007. 

International telecommunications spending (not including U.S.
figures) is predicted to total an estimated $1.5 trillion in 2004, up
10.3 percent over 2003. TIA expects high-speed Internet access to
be the principal driver of equipment spending. International
spending on telecommunications equipment is predicted to in-
crease by 5.4 percent in 2004 to $260.1 billion and then to grow
at high single-digit rates through 2007. Overall international tele-
com spending is expected to reach $2 trillion in 2007, growing at
a compound annual rate of 10.5 percent between 2004 and 2007. 

Software and Services

Forrester Research, Inc. (Forrester) recently projected that U.S.
business and government spending on purchased software will
grow by 10 percent in 2004. 

8
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Spending on information enablers (business intelligence, portals,
and so on), systems management, security, and desktop PC appli-
cations will outpace spending on enterprise applications and, to a
lesser degree, spending on middleware. Custom software built to
order by IT services companies will grow 13 percent, thanks to
low-cost offshore options, while software built internally by cor-
porate IT staff will increase only 4 percent as companies focus on
minor enhancements to existing deployments. 

Forrester breaks the U.S. software market into three broad
segments: (1) purchases of commercial software, whether in
prepackaged or in customizable forms; (2) purchases of custom-
developed software by IT services companies; and (3) the value
of internally developed software. In total, U.S. enterprises will
invest $234 billion in 2004 to buy or build software, with
commercial software representing 56 percent of this spending,
custom-built software equaling 7 percent, and internally built
software being 37 percent. 

When people think about software today, they primarily think of
commercial software from leading software vendors, such as Mi-
crosoft, IBM, Oracle, SAP, Computer Associates International,
Symantec, Veritas, BMC Software, and Adobe Systems, to name
just a few of the largest of thousands of software vendors. With
commercial software becoming more capable, more adaptable,
and more available for a wider range of specialized needs, it is no
surprise that total U.S. enterprise spending in this category
reached $119 billion in 2003 and will grow by 10 percent to
$131 billion in 2004. Commercial software includes both pack-
aged off-the-shelf software and component-based software that
can be configured and customized by the purchaser. 

Twenty years ago, custom-developed software still dominated the
commercial software segment, especially for enterprise operations
and applications. However, the role of custom-developed soft-
ware has steadily diminished as commercial packaged and semi-
packaged software has grown in sophistication and scope.
Spending on custom-developed software, according to Forrester
calculations, equaled $15 billion in 2003—one-eighth of the
spending in commercial software overall. Governments—espe-
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cially the federal government—have a disproportionate share of
this market, due to their very specialized needs and limited re-
sources for internal software development. However, the avail-
ability of low-cost, offshore development resources, which is
being used increasingly by many businesses, especially in finan-
cial services and in high-technology, has recently reversed this
trend. Forrester projects that spending on custom-developed soft-
ware will equal $17 billion in 2004, up 13 percent from 2003. 

Enterprises will continue to develop their own software to meet
unique needs and requirements, and to adapt and customize
packaged applications. However, investment in internally built
software has been steadily declining year over year as commercial
software has become more capable and customizable, and has
been developed to support more business processes and adapted
for different vertical industries. The Commerce Department cal-
culates that investment in internally built software was $83 bil-
lion in 2003, and Forrester projects that it will grow by 4 percent
to $86 billion in 2004. Governments, insurance companies,
banks, utilities, retail and wholesale firms, health care companies,
telecom companies, and manufacturers will make about half of
these investments during 2004, while the other half comes from
software vendors and other technology companies developing
software for sales to others. Investment in internal software will
continue to shrink as development needs of IT buying enterprises
narrow to the creation of specific functions not available in com-
mercial software or to extensions and adaptations, but investment
in internally built software by IT vendors will grow as the market
shifts to commercial software. 

Audit Issues and Developments

Assessing Audit Risks in the Current Environment

The proper planning and execution of an audit has always re-
quired you to have an understanding of the high-technology in-
dustry and the nature of your client’s business. Auditors of
high-technology companies will need to obtain an understanding
of the client’s products, services, and distribution processes, and

10
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the terms and conditions of sales arrangements. Such an under-
standing will enhance your ability to plan and perform auditing
procedures. For most audit firms, this understanding means that
the most experienced partners and managers must become in-
volved early and often in the audit process. 

You should keep the following points in mind as you plan and
perform audits of high-technology clients:

• Understand how your client is affected by changes in the
current business environment.

• Understand the stresses on your client’s internal con-
trol over financial reporting, and how they may affect
its effectiveness.

• Identify key risk areas, particularly those involving signifi-
cant estimates and judgments.

• Approach the audit with objectivity and skepticism, set-
ting aside prior experiences with or belief in manage-
ment’s integrity. 

• Pay special attention to complex transactions, especially
those presenting difficult issues of form versus substance.

• Consider whether additional specialized knowledge is
needed on the audit team.

• Make management aware of identified audit differences on
a timely basis.

• Question the unusual and challenge anything that doesn’t
make sense.

• Foster open, ongoing communications with management
and the audit committee, including discussions about the
quality of financial reporting and any pressure to accept
less than high-quality financial reporting.

• When faced with a “gray” area, perform appropriate proce-
dures to test and corroborate management’s explanations
and representations, and consult with others as needed.
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Specific points to keep in mind with respect to high-technology
clients include:

• Consider the inappropriate use of “bill and hold” account-
ing, for example, in circumstances where the customer has
not requested the delay in shipment or provided a ship
date that is unreasonably long in the circumstances.

• Identify “round trip” transactions (see the “Accounting Is-
sues and Developments” section later in this Alert for a de-
tailed discussion of these transactions).

• Consider nonmonetary transactions.

• Pay attention to whether persuasive evidence of the
arrangement exists at the time revenue is recognized and
whether legal title to the goods has been transferred and
the customer has all the risks and rewards of ownership at
that time.

• Consider customers’ rights of return, particularly those of
distributors, and whether all the requirements of Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Finan-
cial Accounting Standards No. 48, Revenue Recognition
When Right of Return Exists, have been satisfied for rev-
enue recognition.

Audit Planning

Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 22, Planning and
Supervision (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 311),
among other matters, provides guidance for auditors regarding
the specific procedures that should be considered in planning an
audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards
(GAAS). SAS No. 22 states that the auditor should obtain a
knowledge of matters that relate to the nature of the entity’s busi-
ness, its organization, and its operating characteristics, and con-
sider matters affecting the industry in which the entity operates,
including, among other matters, economic conditions as they re-
late to the specific audit. For audits of high-technology compa-
nies, you should consider obtaining information relating to:

12
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• The types of products being developed and marketed as
well as their corresponding life cycles.

• Whether those products are relatively standard or require
significant customization.

• Whether the company has a practice of allowing customers
to return products for new or upgraded models.

• Whether the company sells standalone products or a bun-
dle of products and services (that is, multiple-element
arrangements).

• The company’s current marketing programs, for example,
pricing incentives and the nature of any incentives that
may affect the timing of revenue recognition.

• Whether the company uses a standard form of sales agree-
ment; if standard sales agreements are not used, the
processes by which sales agreements are evaluated for pro-
priety of revenue recognition.

• Compensation plans for management and sales personnel
that may provide an incentive to misstate revenue.

• Factors used by stock analysts to value the entity.

• The general terms of the company’s arrangements with dis-
tributors and value-added resellers (VARs), if the company
uses them.

• The types of arrangements and warranty provisions the
company typically enters into with its end-user customers.

• If sales are made internationally, the laws of the local juris-
diction relating to billing, transfer of title, or other items
that may affect revenue recognition.

• The competitive environment.

The Competitive Environment

The high-technology industry is extremely competitive. Industry
participants use a variety of pricing mechanisms and other prod-
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uct offerings to gain market share and increase their customer
base. Some segments of the industry—most notably, the PC seg-
ment—sell what is considered a commodity. When a product is
considered a commodity, the primary means of differentiation is
price, and it is not unusual for participants in the industry to en-
gage in aggressive pricing practices or offer generous sales conces-
sions to gain or retain market share.

Rapid innovation and substantial technological change also char-
acterize the industry. New industry players and products continu-
ously emerge, and companies are under constant pressure to
enhance the capabilities and quality of their products and services.
Clients whose products become technologically inferior become
vulnerable to customer demands for price or other concessions.

The pressure to meet quarterly or annual earnings targets creates
a strong incentive for entities to complete transactions by the end
of the reporting period. Customers can take advantage of this de-
sire to meet revenue expectations by forcing companies to lower
prices or provide more liberal sales terms in contracts negotiated
near the end of a reporting period. For this reason, it is not un-
common for high-technology companies to report a proportion-
ately higher number of sales near the end of a reporting period.
This situation generally leads to a greater risk of material mis-
statement to the financial statements.

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue recognition continues to pose significant audit risk to
auditors. The high-technology industry represents one of the
more challenging industries when it comes to the topic of rev-
enue recognition.

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) sought to fill the
gap in the accounting literature with Staff Accounting Bulletin
(SAB) No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, which
was issued in December 1999, and the companion document, Rev-
enue Recognition in Financial Statements—Frequently Asked Ques-
tions and Answers, which was issued in October 2000. SAB No.
101 was superseded by SAB No. 104, Revenue Recognition, in De-
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cember 2003. SAB No. 104 states that if a transaction falls within
the scope of specific authoritative literature on revenue recogni-
tion, that guidance should be followed; in the absence of such
guidance, the revenue recognition criteria in FASB Statement of
Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, Recognition and Measure-
ment in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises (namely, that
revenue should not be recognized until it is (1) realized or realizable
and (2) earned ), should be followed. However, SAB No. 104 is
more specific, stating additional requirements for meeting those
criteria, and reflects the SEC staff ’s view that the four basic criteria
for revenue recognition in AICPA Statement of Position (SOP)
97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, should be a foundation for all
basic revenue recognition principles. Those criteria are:

• Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. 

• Delivery has occurred. 

• The vendor’s fee is fixed or determinable. 

• Collectibility is probable. 

The SEC continues to see instances of questionable and inappro-
priate revenue recognition practices. Significant issues encoun-
tered recently include:

• Complex arrangements that provide for separate, multiple
deliverables (for example, multiple products and/or ser-
vices), at different points in time, during the contract term.

• Nonmonetary (for example, barter) transactions where fair
values are not readily determinable with a sufficient degree
of reliability.

The SEC has requested that the Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) address certain of these issues to clarify the application
of GAAP in these transactions. However, the SEC staff generally
believes that the existing accounting literature provides analo-
gous guidance for a number of these issues, including SOP 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition; Accounting Principles Board
(APB) Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transac-
tions; SOP 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type
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and Certain Production-Type Contracts; FASB Concept State-
ment No. 5; and FASB Concept Statement No. 6, Elements of
Financial Statements.

In an industry as varied as high technology, invariably there will
be significant differences among companies regarding the types
of products and services sold, and how they are sold. Characteris-
tics of high-technology revenue transactions that may affect rev-
enue recognition include the following.

• Bundled sales. The bundling of installation or other ser-
vices with product sales can complicate the revenue recog-
nition process.

• Indirect versus direct selling. Many high-technology compa-
nies use a combination of direct sales with a network of
VARs and distributors to sell their products to end users.
Sales made through distributors, as well as significant sin-
gle sales, often can have unique, nonstandard terms. It is
common for high-technology companies to provide incen-
tives or sales concessions to their VARs and distributors
that go beyond the rights of return granted to end users.
Many of the incentives and concessions raise revenue
recognition issues.

• Bill and hold sales. It is not uncommon for high-technol-
ogy companies to enter into bill and hold transactions. In
a bill and hold transaction, a customer agrees to purchase
the goods but the seller retains physical possession until
the customer requests shipment. Normally, such an
arrangement does not qualify as a sale because delivery has
not occurred. 

• International sales. High-technology companies may make
sales in non-U.S. legal jurisdictions. The laws in these ju-
risdictions relating to product sales can vary significantly
from U.S. laws. For example, some countries may prohibit
the billing for goods until delivery occurs or may have rules
regarding transfer of title that may be significantly differ-
ent from U.S. rules.

16
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AICPA’s Audit Guide on Revenue Recognition

The AICPA Audit Guide Auditing Revenue in Certain Industries
assists auditors in auditing assertions about revenue in selected
industries not covered by other AICPA Audit and Accounting
Guides. You can look to this Guide for descriptions and explana-
tions of auditing standards, procedures, and practices as they re-
late to auditing assertions about revenue in both the computer
software and high-technology manufacturing industries. 

This Guide:

• Discusses the responsibilities of management, boards of di-
rectors, and audit committees for reliable financial reporting.

• Summarizes key accounting guidance regarding whether
and when revenue should be recognized in accordance
with GAAP.

• Identifies circumstances and transactions that may signal
improper revenue recognition.

• Summarizes key aspects of the auditor’s responsibility to
plan and perform an audit under GAAS.

• Describes procedures that the auditor may find effective in
limiting audit risk arising from improper revenue recognition.

You can order the AICPA Audit Guide Auditing Revenue in Cer-
tain Industries (product no. 012514kk) from the AICPA at (888)
777-7077 or go online at www.cpa2biz.com.

Consideration of Fraud 

SAS No. 99, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement
Audit (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 316), is the
primary source of authoritative guidance about an auditor’s re-
sponsibilities concerning the consideration of fraud in a financial
statement audit. 

Considering Fraud Risk Factors

You may identify events or conditions that indicate incentives or
pressures to perpetrate fraud, opportunities to carry out the
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fraud, or attitudes and rationalizations to justify a fraudulent ac-
tion. Such events or conditions are referred to as “fraud risk fac-
tors.” Fraud risk factors do not necessarily indicate the existence
of fraud; however, they often are present in circumstances where
fraud exists.

SAS No. 99 provides fraud risk factor examples that have been
written to apply to most enterprises. Remember that fraud risk
factors are only one of several sources of information you con-
sider when identifying and assessing risk of material misstatement
due to fraud. Some examples of fraud risk factors that may exist
in the high-technology industry include the following:

• Management’s excessive interest in maintaining sales or
earnings without regard to proper accounting or to the
company’s established revenue recognition policies.

• Significant amounts of executive compensation tied to
stock performance. 

• Excessive involvement of nonfinancial management, such
as sales personnel in financial reporting.

• A failure by management to display and communicate an
appropriate attitude regarding internal control and finan-
cial reporting. Specific indicators might include—

– Poor or no coordination between sales, accounting, and
legal personnel regarding the terms of sales agreements
that affect revenue recognition.

– Lack of control over contract documentation, and in-
sufficient review and understanding of the sales agree-
ments by finance personnel.

– Lack of communication throughout the organization
regarding acceptable revenue recognition practices.

– The existence of side agreements.

• A highly competitive environment. 

• High vulnerability to technological changes and product
obsolescence.

18
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• Significant volumes of product sold into a distribution chan-
nel without a corresponding increase in end-user demand. 

• Continuing sales to resellers coupled with a lack of enforce-
ment of payment terms on previously outstanding balances.

• Frequent changes in marketing or distribution methods or
strategies.

• Existence of an unusual number of contract amendments,
late changes, or both. 

• The use by management of unusually aggressive account-
ing practices in recognizing revenue.

• Complicated criteria for recognizing sales transactions,
making it difficult to assess the completion of the earnings
process. (For additional information about revenue-recog-
nition-related issues, see the “Revenue Recognition” sec-
tion of this Alert.)

• Inadequate responses or an unwillingness to respond to in-
quiries about known regulatory or legal issues.

• Significant related-party transactions.

• A significant portion of management compensation repre-
sented by bonuses, stock options, or other incentives.

• Excessive interest by management in maintaining or in-
creasing an entity’s stock price.

• Existence of nonmonetary transactions.

SAS No. 99 also identifies risk factors related to misstatements aris-
ing from fraudulent financial reporting, such as a high degree of
competition or market saturation and rapidly changing technology
or rapid product obsolescence. All of these factors are present in the
high-technology industry, implying potential audit concerns.

Identifying Risks That May Result in a Material 
Misstatement Due to Fraud

In identifying risks of material misstatement due to fraud, it is
helpful to consider the information that has been gathered in
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accordance with the requirements of SAS No. 99 (AU sec.
316.19-.34). Your identification of fraud risks may be influenced
by characteristics such as the size, complexity, and ownership at-
tributes of the entity. In addition, you should evaluate whether
identified risks of material misstatement due to fraud can be re-
lated to specific financial-statement account balances or classes of
transactions and related assertions, or whether they relate more
pervasively to the financial statements as a whole. Certain ac-
counts, classes of transactions, and assertions that have high in-
herent risk because they involve a high degree of management
judgment and subjectivity also may present risks of material mis-
statement due to fraud because they are susceptible to manipula-
tion by management.

Practical Guidance

The AICPA has developed a Practice Aid titled Fraud Detection
in a GAAS Audit, Revised Edition (product no. 006615kk),
which provides practical help on considering fraud in a financial
statement audit. Also see the AICPA’s Antifraud & Corporate
Responsibility Resource Center at www.aicpa.org/antifraud, an
online resource providing comprehensive tools, information,
and resources devoted to the prevention, detection, and investi-
gation of fraud.

Evaluating Going Concern 

A number of high-technology industry sectors have experienced
intense competition, recurring operating losses, negative cash
flows, and the inability to obtain debt or equity financing. 

Certain conditions, considered in the aggregate, may lead you to
question the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. In
general, conditions and events that might indicate caution about
going-concern issues could include (1) negative trends, such as
recurring operating losses; (2) financial difficulties, such as loan
defaults or denial of trade credit from suppliers; (3) internal chal-
lenges, such as substantial dependence on the success of a partic-
ular product line or service; or (4) external matters, for example,
pending legal proceedings or loss of a principal supplier. Also
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consider the case of an entity’s excessive and unusual reliance on
external financing, rather than on money generated from the
company’s own operations as a going-concern issue. 

Key in evaluating these risk factors is whether:

• Existing conditions and events can be mitigated by man-
agement’s plans and their effective implementation.

• The company has the ability to control the implementa-
tion of mitigating plans rather than depending on actions
of others.

• The company’s assumption about its ability to continue as
a going concern is based on realistic, rather than overly op-
timistic, assessments of its access to needed debt or equity
capital or its ability to sell assets in a timely manner.

• Liquidity challenges have been appropriately satisfied and
disclosed.

When evaluating management’s plans to continue as a going
concern, an appropriate level of professional skepticism is im-
portant. For example, you may want to scrutinize the company’s
assumptions to continue as a going concern to assess whether
those assumptions are based on overly optimistic or “once-in-a-
lifetime” occurrences. 

Key factors in your evaluation of the ability to continue as a
going concern are part of the guidance provided in SAS No. 59,
The Auditor’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a
Going Concern (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec.
341), as amended.

Auditor’s Responsibilities Related to a Going-Concern Issue

Auditors should be aware of their responsibilities pursuant to SAS
No. 59 (AU sec. 341.02 and .03(b)). That Statement provides
guidance about conducting an audit of financial statements in ac-
cordance with GAAS to evaluate whether there is substantial
doubt about a client’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time. 
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Continuation of an entity as a going concern is generally assumed
in the absence of significant information to the contrary. Infor-
mation that significantly contradicts the going-concern assump-
tion, or the ability to remain a going concern, relates to the
entity’s inability to continue to meet its obligations as they be-
come due without substantial disposition of assets outside the or-
dinary course of business, restructuring of debt, externally forced
revisions of its operations, or similar actions. SAS No. 59 does
not require you to design audit procedures solely to identify con-
ditions and events that, when considered in the aggregate, indi-
cate there could be substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The results of auditing procedures
designed and performed to achieve other audit objectives should
be sufficient for that purpose. 

If there is substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue
as a going concern, you should consider whether it is likely that
management plans can mitigate existing conditions and events
and whether those plans can be effectively implemented. If you
obtain sufficient competent evidential matter to alleviate doubts
about going-concern issues, you should give consideration to the
possible effects on the financial statements and the adequacy of
the related disclosures. If, however, after considering identified
conditions and events, along with management’s plans, you con-
clude that substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue
as a going concern remains, the audit report should include an
explanatory paragraph to reflect that conclusion. In these circum-
stances, refer to the specific guidance set forth under SAS No. 59.

Inventory Valuation

The primary literature on inventory accounting is Accounting
Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 43, Restatement and Revision of Ac-
counting Research Bulletins, as amended, chapters 3A and 4,
which provide the following summary:

Inventory shall be stated at the lower of cost or market, except
in certain exceptional cases when it may be stated above cost.
Cost is defined as the sum of the applicable expenditures and
charges directly or indirectly incurred in bringing inventories
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to their existing condition and location. Cost for inventory
purposes may be determined under any one of several assump-
tions as to the flow of cost factors (such as first-in, first-out; av-
erage; and last-in, last-out).

Whether inventory is properly stated at lower of cost or market
can be a very significant issue for high-technology audit clients
because of the rapid changes that can occur in many areas of
the industry, and the need for entities to keep up with the
newest technology. Examples of factors that may affect inven-
tory pricing include:

• Changes in a product’s design that may have an adverse
impact on the entity’s older products, with older products
not as salable as the newer versions.

• A competitor’s introduction of a technologically advanced
version of the product that may decrease salability of a
client’s products.

• Changes in the products promoted by the industry as a
whole, such as a shift from analog to digital technology,
that may affect salability.

• Changes in foreign economies that could result in such sit-
uations as slowdown of sales to that region or lower-priced
imports from that region.

• Changes in technology to produce high-technology prod-
ucts that can give competitors a selling-price advantage.

• Changes in regulations that could affect the competitive
environment.

• The entity’s own product changes that may not be well re-
searched due to the pressure to introduce new products
quickly, resulting in poor sales or high returns.

The highly competitive environment and the rapid advancement
of technological factors contribute to the common problem of
rapid inventory obsolescence in the high-technology industry. As
such, you should consider whether the carrying amount of inven-
tories is appropriate.
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You can look at many factors in determining the proper valuation
of inventories. A few examples of factors that may be useful in-
clude the following:

• Product sales trends and expected future demand

• Sales forecasts prepared by management as compared with
industry statistics

• Anticipated technological advancements that could render
existing inventories obsolete or that could significantly re-
duce their value

• Inventory valuation ratios, such as gross profit ratios, in-
ventory turnover, obsolescence reserves as a percentage of
inventory, and days’ sales in inventory

• New product lines planned by management and their ef-
fects on current inventory

• New product announcements by competitors

• Economic conditions in markets where the product is sold

• Economic conditions in areas where competitive products
are produced

• Changes in the regulatory environment

• Unusual or unexpected movements, or lack thereof, of cer-
tain raw materials for use in work-in-process inventory

• Levels of product returns

• Pricing trends for the type of products sold by the client

• Changes in standards used by the industry

These are not the only issues of importance to consider. You may
need to address many other issues, including the client’s taking of
physical inventories in high-technology entities. Consider guid-
ance set forth in SAS No. 1 (AU sec. 331.09-.13). Among the is-
sues for your consideration are the following:

• When dealing with some difficult types of inventory, such
as chemicals used in the process, you may need to take
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samples for outside analysis. The work of a specialist may
also be needed, and in this case you should follow the
guidance set forth in SAS No. 73, Using the Work of a Spe-
cialist (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 336).

• The extent to which raw materials have been converted to
work-in-process will need to be determined to assess the
value of the work-in-process.

• Indications of old or neglected materials or finished goods
need to be considered in the valuation of the inventory.

• The client’s inventory held by others, as well as field service
inventories for use in servicing the client’s products, will
need to be considered.

In addition, the SEC staff believes that inventory reserves create a
new cost basis and thus cannot be subsequently reversed into in-
come as a change in estimate if, for example, demand were fore-
casted to pick up and thereby a previously established excess and
obsolete inventory reserve were deemed no longer necessary. 

There are also risks posed by the use of contract manufacturers.
In many of those circumstances the hardware vendor will provide
the contract manufacturer with a guarantee against its loss due to
excess raw material inventory (and, possibly, against the value
added in the manufacturing or assembly process) that would
occur if the vendor were to reduce purchases beyond a certain
point. Such a guarantee may represent a contingent loss that
needs to be recognized or disclosed under FASB Statement No. 5,
Accounting for Contingencies. The disclosure requirements of
FASB Statement No. 47, Disclosure of Long-Term Obligations, also
need to be considered.

Accounting Issues and Developments

Revenue Recognition

Income Statement Classification

The appropriate classification of amounts within the income
statement or balance sheet can be as important as the appropri-
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ate measurement or recognition of such amounts. In the current
environment where revenue growth may not be as robust as
originally projected, you need to be particularly concerned
about income statement misclassifications designed to increase
reported revenue (for example, reporting agency transactions on
a gross basis and showing sales discounts as a marketing expense
rather than a revenue reduction). Several EITF consensus provi-
sions provide guidance on the proper classification of certain
revenue and expense items. For example, consider EITF Issues
No. 99-17, “Accounting for Advertising Barter Transactions”;
No. 99-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net
as an Agent”; No. 00-10, “Accounting for Shipping and Han-
dling Fees and Costs”; and No. 00-14, “Accounting for Certain
Sales Incentives.” SEC registrants should apply the guidance
provided in SEC Regulation S-X regarding classification of
amounts in financial statements. 

Round Tripping

Round tripping is another technique used to artificially inflate
revenues and has appeared in several restatement scenarios. It in-
volves transactions in which the company sells products and ser-
vices to the same entity from which it buys products and services.
Often the transactions happen in close temporal proximity and
completing one transaction is dependent on completing the
other. The fair value of both transactions may be overstated such
that the company can report higher revenue at the “cost” of in-
creased expenses. In addition, the products and services pur-
chased back may not be used in the same period the revenue is
recognized, resulting in more than a basic incorrect grossing-up
of the income statement. 

Vendor Financing

The reduced liquidity of many customers is resulting in an in-
creased use of vendor financing that goes well beyond normal
trade terms. That requires consideration of whether the fee is
fixed or determinable and/or collectible. In addition, provisions
of APB Opinion No. 21, Interest on Receivables and Payables, need
to be considered. 
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Nonmonetary or Barter Transactions

Abuses in the area of nonmonetary or barter transactions have
also been a focus of several recent restatements. The principle is-
sues are whether there is a legitimate business purpose for the
transaction and whether there is sufficient objective evidence of
fair values. Also of concern are “disguised” barter transactions
that are not analyzed as such due to the presence of “boot” or sep-
aration in time of transactions that are, in fact, negotiated to-
gether. Abuses are seen most often in situations where there is
little hard inventoriable cost associated with the deliverables.

The FASB has issued a proposed FASB Statement, Exchanges of
Productive Assets—an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29, that
would affect the accounting for nonmonetary exchanges. A final
Statement is expected to be issued in late 2004. Readers should
be alert for any final guidance.

Price Protection Agreements

A price protection clause requires a high-technology company to
rebate or credit a portion of the sales price if the company subse-
quently reduces its price for a product and the distributors and
VARs are entitled to the benefits of the price concession for past
sales or for software or products in inventory. High-technology
companies should provide appropriate allowances at the date of
revenue recognition for price concessions; however, revenue
should not be recognized until reasonable and reliable estimates
of the effects of price concessions can be made.

Guaranteed Minimum Resale Value

EITF Issue No. 95-1, “Revenue Recognition on Sales with a
Guaranteed Minimum Resale Value,” provides guidance when a
manufacturer sells equipment to a purchaser and guarantees that
the purchaser will receive a minimum resale amount at the time
the equipment is disposed of. The seller may agree to (1) reac-
quire equipment at a guaranteed price at specified time periods as
a means to facilitate its resale or (2) pay the purchaser for the de-
ficiency. According to the EITF, the manufacturer is precluded
from recognizing a sale if the manufacturer guarantees the resale
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value of the equipment. Rather, the manufacturer should account
for the transaction as a lease, using the guidance in FASB State-
ment No. 13, Accounting for Leases.

Inventory Costs

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 151, Inven-
tory Costs—an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, which clar-
ifies that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight,
handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recog-
nized as current-period charges and requires the allocation of
fixed production overheads to inventory based on the normal ca-
pacity of the production facilities.

This standard will most likely affect the high-technology indus-
try in the computer segment where in the past there has been
confusion about whether companies should capitalize or ex-
pense unusual amounts of costs associated with production
below normal levels.

The standard is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 2005. Earlier application is permit-
ted for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning
after November 23, 2004. The provisions of FASB Statement No.
151 should be applied prospectively. The final standard can be
obtained on the FASB Web site at www.fasb.org.

Employee Stock Options

Knowledgeable workers are the prime assets of high-technology
businesses and are the key to wealth creation. Accounting for their
compensation sometimes raises difficult accounting issues if high-
technology companies include stock options in employee compen-
sation packages. High-technology companies grant stock options
to essential employees to attract, motivate, and retain them, in ad-
dition to granting stock options, awards of stock, or warrants to
consultants, contractors, vendors, lawyers, finders, lessors, and
others. Issuing equity instruments makes a lot of sense, partly be-
cause of the favorable accounting treatment and partly because the
use of equity conserves cash and generates capital.
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Due to increased scrutiny from the press, Congress, regulators,
and others, the FASB issued an exposure draft in March 2004,
Share-Based Payment. The proposed Statement addresses the ac-
counting for employee stock options. It also addresses the ac-
counting for transactions in which a company incurs liabilities
that are based on the fair value of the company’s equity instru-
ments or that may be settled by issuing equity instruments in ex-
change for employee services. The proposed Statement only
affects employee stock options (and related liabilities); it does not
affect the accounting for similar transactions involving parties
other than employees. It also does not affect the accounting for
employee stock ownership plans, which are subject to SOP 93-6,
Employers’ Accounting for Employee Stock Ownership Plans. Gener-
ally, the approach in the proposed Statement is similar to the ap-
proach described in FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation. However, the proposed Statement
would require all share-based payments to employees, including
grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income
statement based on their fair values. 

The main purpose of this proposed Statement is to recognize the
cost of employee services received in exchange for equity instru-
ments and related liabilities in an entity’s financial statements.
Key provisions of the proposed Statement are as follows:

• For public entities, the cost of employee services received
in exchange for equity instruments would be measured
using the fair value of those instruments on the grant date.
The compensation cost would then be recognized over the
requisite service period (usually the vesting period). Gener-
ally, no cost would be recognized if the equity instruments
do not vest.

• For public entities, the cost of employee services received
in exchange for liabilities would be measured at the fair
value of the liabilities initially, then remeasured at each re-
porting date through the settlement date. The pro rata
change in the fair value of the liability during the requisite
service period would be recognized over that period. After
the requisite service period is complete, the change in fair
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value would be recognized in the financial statements in
the period of the change. 

• On the grant date, the estimated fair value of employee
stock options and similar instruments would be deter-
mined using options pricing models (unless observable
market prices are available).

• If an equity award is modified after the grant date, incre-
mental compensation cost will be recognized. This amount
will be the difference between the fair value of the modi-
fied award and the fair value of the original award immedi-
ately before the modification.

• If the terms of employee share purchase plans were no
more favorable than those available to all holders of the
same class of shares, and substantially all employees could
participate on an equitable basis, those plans would not be
considered compensatory.

• Excess tax benefits, as defined by the proposed Statement,
would be treated as additional paid-in capital. Cash re-
tained as a result of those benefits would be reported in the
statement of cash flows as cash from financial activities.
The write-off of deferred tax assets as a result of unrealized
tax benefits associated with recognized compensation
would be reported as income tax expense.

• The proposed Statement allows nonpublic companies to
elect to use the intrinsic method to measure the cost of em-
ployee stock options and similar instruments, as well as li-
ability instruments. Public companies may also use the
intrinsic method if it is not reasonably possible to estimate
grant-date fair value.

• The notes to the financial statements of all entities should in-
clude information that users need to understand the nature
of employee stock options and similar instruments and the
effect those instruments have on the financial statements.

However, the proposed Statement has developed into a political
issue. In July 2004, the U.S. House of Representatives (the
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House) voted to block the proposed Statement. The House-
passed measure would limit required expensing of options to
those owned by a corporation’s top five executives. It also would
allow newly public companies to delay expensing for top execu-
tives in the first three years. In the House debate, supporters of
the legislation insisted that a mandate to expense options compli-
cate income statements, discourage startup companies, and hurt
the economy by stifling future innovation. Backers also said it
was impossible to determine the value of options. 

The FASB recently announced a delay in the effective date of the
proposed Statement because corporations already are facing dead-
lines to implement other new regulations enacted in 2002 in re-
sponse to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The proposed Statement will
be effective for awards that are granted, modified, or settled in fis-
cal years beginning after (1) June 15, 2005, for public entities and
nonpublic entities that used the fair-value-based method of ac-
counting under the original provisions of FASB Statement No.
123 for recognition or pro forma disclosure purposes and (2) De-
cember 15, 2005, for all other nonpublic entities.

You should continue to follow the developments of this proposed
Statement and discuss its implications with your high-technology
clients. For information on this exposure draft and other ac-
counting standards issued subsequent to this Alert, please refer to
the FASB Web site at www.fasb.org. You may also look for an-
nouncements of newly issued standards in the CPA Letter and
Journal of Accountancy.

Research and Development Costs

As noted in last year’s Alert, ongoing innovation is the heart of
competition in the high-technology industry and is required for
survival. Consequently, most high-technology companies devote a
substantial portion of their resources to research and development
(R&D) activity. According to paragraphs 8(a) and 8(b) of FASB
Statement No. 2, Accounting for Research and Development Costs:

Research is planned search or critical investigation aimed at
discovery of new knowledge with the hope that such knowl-
edge will be useful in developing a new product or service…
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Development is the translation of research findings or other
knowledge into a plan or design for a new product or
process…whether intended for sale or use.

High-technology management may reduce net loss or increase
earnings by capitalizing R&D costs, which are significant for
many companies in the high-technology industry. However,
FASB Statement No. 2, as interpreted by FASB Interpretation No.
4, Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations
Accounted for by the Purchase Method, prohibits capitalization and
requires R&D to be expensed when incurred, except for acquired
R&D with alternative future uses purchased from others. In addi-
tion to the requirement to expense internal R&D, FASB State-
ment No. 2 requires disclosure in the financial statements
regarding the total amount of R&D costs charged to expense.

Some high-technology companies acquire their assets through
mergers and acquisitions. One purpose of these business combi-
nations is to acquire in-process R&D. You may need to hire a
technology specialist to determine which acquired technology
objects have alternative future uses. For clients with technology
with alternative future uses, you should verify that they are prop-
erly valued and capitalized.

The AICPA Practice Aid Assets Acquired in a Business Combination to
Be Used in Research and Development Activities: A Focus on Software,
Electronic Devices, and Pharmaceutical Industries (product no.
006609kk) may be helpful in valuing these intangible assets. The
Practice Aid can be obtained by calling AICPA Service Center Op-
erations at (888) 777-7077 or by going online at www.cpa2biz.com. 

New Auditing, Attestation, and Quality Control
Pronouncements, and Other Guidance

Presented below is a list of auditing, attestation, and quality control
pronouncements and other guidance issued since the publication of
last year’s Alert. The AICPA general Audit Risk Alert—2004/05
(product no. 022335kk) contains a summary explanation of most of
these issuances. For information on auditing, attestation, and other
standards and guidance issued subsequent to the writing of this Alert,

32

ARA High Tech.qxd  12/10/2004  2:57 PM  Page 32



33

please refer to the AICPA Web site at www.aicpa.org and the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) Web site at
www.pcaobus.org. The PCAOB sets auditing standards of public
companies and other SEC registrants only. You may also look for an-
nouncements of newly issued standards in the CPA Letter, Journal of
Accountancy, and the quarterly electronic newsletter, “In Our Opin-
ion,” issued by the AICPA’s Auditing Standards team and available at
www.aicpa.org/members/div/auditstd/opinion/index.htm. 

SOP 04-1 Auditing the Statement of Social Insurance
(November 2004)
(Not applicable to audits 
conducted in accordance with 
PCAOB standards)

AICPA Audit Interpretation “Clarification in the Audit Report of the 
No. 17 of SAS No. 58 Extent of Testing of Internal Control Over 
(June 2004) Financial Reporting in Accordance with 
(Not applicable to audits Generally Accepted Auditing Standards” 
conducted in accordance with 
PCAOB standards) 

AICPA Audit Interpretation “Reference to PCAOB Standards in an 
No. 18 of SAS No. 58 Audit Report of a Nonissuer” 
(June 2004)
(Not applicable to audits 
conducted in accordance with 
PCAOB standards)

PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 1 References in Auditors’ Reports to the 
(May 2004) Standards of the Public Company Accounting
(Applicable to audits conducted in Oversight Board
accordance with PCAOB standards)

PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2 An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial 
(June 2004) Reporting Performed in Conjunction With an
(Applicable to audits conducted in Audit of Financial Statements 
accordance with PCAOB standards)

PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 3 Audit Documentation and Amendment 
(August 2004) to Interim Auditing Standards
(Applicable to audits conducted in 
accordance with PCAOB standards)

PCAOB Rules In the past year the PCAOB has issued
(Various dates) numerous rules to be used by registered
(Applicable to audits conducted in public accounting firms in the preparation 
accordance with PCAOB standards) and issuance of audit reports. For a complete

listing of PCAOB rules, go to www.pcaobus.org.

(continued)
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PCAOB Staff Questions and Answers 1.Auditing Internal Control Over Financial 
(Various dates) Reporting
(Applicable to audits conducted 2.Audits of Financial Statements of
in accordance with PCAOB Non-Issuers Performed Pursuant to the 
standards only) Standards of the PCAOB

Suggested Framework for Internal A Framework for Evaluating Process/
Controls Related to PCAOB Transaction-Level Exceptions and Deficiencies
Auditing Standard No. 2

Revised AICPA Ethics “Performance of Nonattest Services” 
Interpretation No. 101-3
(September 2003 and July 2004)

AICPA Ethics Ruling No. 12 “Use of a Third-Party Service Provider to 
under Rule 102 Assist a Member in Providing Professional 
(November 2004) Services”

AICPA Ethics Ruling No. 12 “Applicability of General and Technical 
under Rules 201 and 202 Standards When Using a Third-Party
(November 2004) Service Provider”

Revised AICPA Ethics Ruling “Computer Processing of Clients’ Returns”
No. 1 under Rule 301
(November 2004)

AICPA Toolkit The AICPA Audit Committee Toolkit
(December 2003)
(Nonauthoritative)

AICPA Practice Alert No. 2003-03 Acceptance and Continuance of Clients
(June 2004) and Engagements
(Nonauthoritative)

AICPA Practice Alert No. 2004-01 Illegal Acts
(November 2004)
(Nonauthoritative)

AICPA Practice Aid Auditing Governmental Financial 
(June 2004) Statements: Programs and Other 
(Nonauthoritative) Practice Aids

AICPA Technical Practice Aid Reporting on Medicaid/Medicare Cost 
9110.15 Reports
(September 2004)
(Nonauthoritative)

AICPA Practice Aid Establishing and Maintaining a System of 
(November 2004) Quality Control for a CPA Firm’s Accounting 
(Nonauthoritative) and Auditing Practice

New COSO Framework Enterprise Risk Management—
(September 2004) Integrated Framework
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For summaries of the above standards and other guidance, visit the ap-
plicable Web site. The standards and interpretations promulgated by
the AICPA Auditing Standards Board are now available free of charge
by visiting the AICPA’s Audit and Attest Standards Team’s page at
www.aicpa.org/members/div/auditstd/Auth_Lit_for_NonIssuers.htm.
Members and nonmembers alike can download the auditing, at-
testation, and quality control standards by either choosing a sec-
tion of the codification or an individual statement number. You
can also obtain copies of AICPA standards and other guidance
by contacting Service Center Operations at (888) 777-7077 or
going online at www.cpa2biz.com.

New Accounting Pronouncements and Other Guidance

Presented below is a list of accounting pronouncements and
other guidance issued since the publication of last year’s Alert.
The AICPA general Audit Risk Alert—2004/05 (product no.
022335kk) contains a summary explanation of most of these is-
suances. For information on accounting standards issued subse-
quent to the writing of this Alert, please refer to the AICPA Web
site at www.aicpa.org, and the FASB Web site at www.fasb.org.
You may also look for announcements of newly issued standards
in the CPA Letter and Journal of Accountancy.

FASB Statement No. 132(R) Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and 
(revised 2003) Other Postretirement Benefits—an
(December 2003) amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88,

and 106

FASB Statement No. 151 Inventory Costs—an amendment of ARB 
(November 2004) No. 43, Chapter 4

FASB Interpretation No. 46(R) Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities—
(revised December 2003) an interpretation of Accounting Research 
(December 2003) Bulletin No. 51

FASB EITF Issues Go to www.fasb.org/eitf/ for a complete list 
(Various dates) of EITF Issues.

FASB Staff Positions Go to www.fasb.org/fasb_staff_positions/ 
(Various dates) for a complete list of FASB Staff Positions 

(FSPs). Some of the recently issued FSPs 
address issues relating to FASB Statements 

(continued)
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No. 141, No. 142, No. 144, and No. 150, 
among others; FASB Interpretations 
No. 45 and 46(R); and EITF Issue No. 03-1.

SEC Rules, Regulations, Go to www.sec.gov for a complete list of
Accounting Bulletins, etc. all SEC Guidance.
(Various dates)

AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Audits of Depository and Lending Institutions: 
(January 2004) Banks and Savings Institutions, Credit Unions,

Finance Companies and Mortgage Companies

SOP 03-3 Accounting for Certain Loans or Debt
(December 2003) Securities Acquired in a Transfer

SOP 03-4 Reporting Financial Highlights and Schedule 
(December 2003) of Investments by Nonregistered Investment 

Partnerships: An Amendment to the Audit 
and Accounting Guide Audits of Investment 
Companies and AICPA Statement of
Position 95-2, Financial Reporting by 
Nonpublic Investment Partnerships

SOP 03-5 Financial Highlights of Separate Accounts: 
(December 2003) An Amendment to the Audit and Accounting 

Guide Audits of Investment Companies

SOP 04-2 Accounting for Real Estate Time-Sharing 
(December 2004) Transactions

AICPA Practice Aid Valuation of Privately-Held Company Equity 
(May 2004) Securities Issued as Compensation
(Nonauthoritative)

AICPA Technical Practice Aid Sale of Real Estate Investments Held 
6930.05 by Employee Benefit Plans and  
(July 2004) Discontinued Operations
(Nonauthoritative)

AICPA Technical Practice Aid Applicability of FASB Interpretation No. 45— 
6400.45 Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
(August 2004) Requirements for Guarantees, Including
(Nonauthoritative) Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of 

Others—Physician Loans

AICPA Technical Practice Aid Applicability of FASB Interpretation No. 45—
6400.46 Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
(August 2004) Requirements for Guarantees, Including
(Nonauthoritative) Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of 

Others—Mortgage Guarantees

AICPA Technical Practice Aids Related to SOP 03-1, Accounting and
6300.05-.08 Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for 
(October 2004) Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration 
(Nonauthoritative) Contracts and for Separate Accounts
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For summaries of the above standards and other guidance, visit
the applicable Web site. To obtain copies of AICPA standards and
other guidance, contact Service Center Operations at (888) 777-
7077 or go online at www.cpa2biz.com.

On the Horizon 

Auditors should keep abreast of auditing and accounting develop-
ments and upcoming guidance that may affect their engagements.
You should check the appropriate standard-setting Web sites (listed
below) for a complete picture of all accounting and auditing pro-
jects in process. Presented below is brief information about some
ongoing projects that may be relevant to your high-technology en-
gagements. Refer to the AICPA general Audit Risk Alert—2004/05
(product no. 022335kk) for additional summaries of some of the
more significant ongoing projects and exposure drafts outstanding.
Remember that exposure drafts are nonauthoritative and cannot be
used as a basis for changing GAAP, GAAS, or PCAOB standards. 

The following table lists the various standard-setting bodies’ Web
sites, where information may be obtained on outstanding expo-
sure drafts and where copies of exposure drafts may be down-
loaded. These Web sites contain much more in-depth information
about proposed standards and other projects in the pipeline. 

Standard-Setting Body Web Site 

AICPA Auditing www.aicpa.org/members/div/auditstd/drafts.htm
Standards Board (ASB) 
(Note that for audits of public
companies, the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board 
sets auditing standards.)

AICPA Accounting Standards www.aicpa.org/members/div/acctstd/edo/index.htm
Executive Committee (AcSEC)

Financial Accounting www.fasb.org
Standards Board (FASB) 

Professional Ethics Executive www.aicpa.org/members/div/ethics/index.htm
Committee (PEEC)

Public Company Accounting www.pcaobus.org
Oversight Board (PCAOB)
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Help Desk—The AICPA’s standard-setting committees pub-
lish exposure drafts of proposed professional standards exclu-
sively on the AICPA Web site. The AICPA will notify
interested parties by e-mail about new exposure drafts. To be
added to the notification list for all AICPA exposure drafts,
send your e-mail address to service@aicpa.org. Indicate “ex-
posure draft e-mail list” in the subject header field to expedite
your submission. Include your full name, mailing address
and, if available, your membership and subscriber number in
the message.

Auditing Pipeline—Nonpublic Companies 

The proposed standards discussed in this section do not apply to
the audits of public companies and other audits conducted under
the standards of the PCAOB. Readers should keep abreast of the
status of the following projects and projected exposure drafts, inas-
much as they will substantially affect the audit process. More infor-
mation can be obtained on the AICPA’s Web site at www.aicpa.org. 

Proposed SAS, Communication of Internal Control 
Related Matters Noted in an Audit

This proposed SAS will supersede SAS No. 60, Communication of
Internal Control Related Matters Noted in an Audit (AICPA,
Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 325), and significantly
strengthen the quality of auditor communications of such mat-
ters in audits of nonpublic companies. Readers should be alert for
the issuance of a final standard. 

Seven SASs Related to Audit Risk Proposed

In December 2002, the AICPA’s Auditing Standards Board
(ASB) issued an exposure draft proposing seven new SASs relat-
ing to the auditor’s risk assessment process. The ASB believes that
the requirements and guidance provided in the proposed SASs, if
adopted, would result in a substantial change in audit practice
and in more effective audits. The primary objective of the pro-
posed SASs is to enhance auditors’ application of the audit risk
model in practice by requiring: 
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• More in-depth understanding of the entity and its envi-
ronment, including its internal control, to identify the
risks of material misstatement in the financial statements
and what the entity is doing to mitigate them.

• More rigorous assessment of the risks of material misstate-
ment of the financial statements based on that understanding.

• Improved linkage between the assessed risks and the na-
ture, timing, and extent of audit procedures performed in
response to those risks.

The exposure draft consists of the following proposed SASs:

• Amendment to Statement on Auditing Standards No. 95,
Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

• Audit Evidence

• Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an Audit

• Planning and Supervision

• Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing
the Risks of Material Misstatement

• Performing Audit Procedures in Response to Assessed Risks and
Evaluating the Audit Evidence Obtained

• Amendment to Statement on Auditing Standards No. 39,
Audit Sampling

The proposed SASs establish standards and provide guidance
concerning the auditor’s assessment of the risks of material mis-
statement in a financial statement audit, and the design and per-
formance of audit procedures whose nature, timing, and extent
are responsive to the assessed risks. Additionally, the proposed
SASs establish standards and provide guidance on planning and
supervision, the nature of audit evidence, and evaluating whether
the audit evidence obtained affords a reasonable basis for an opin-
ion regarding the financial statements under audit. Readers
should be alert for the issuance of final standards in the first half
of 2005. 
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Proposed Statement on Standards for Attestation
Engagements, Reporting on an Entity’s Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting

This proposed Statement on Standards for Attestation Engage-
ments (SSAE) establishes standards and provides guidance to the
practitioner who is engaged to issue or does issue an examination
report on the effectiveness of an entity’s internal control over fi-
nancial reporting as of a point in time (or on an assertion thereon).
Specifically, guidance is provided regarding the following:

• Conditions that must be met for a practitioner to accept an
engagement to examine the effectiveness of an entity’s in-
ternal control and the prohibition of acceptance of an en-
gagement to review such subject matter 

• Engagements to examine the design and operating effec-
tiveness of an entity’s internal control

• Engagements to examine the design and operating effec-
tiveness of a portion of an entity’s internal control (for ex-
ample, internal control over financial reporting of an
entity’s operating division or its accounts receivable) 

• Engagements to examine only the suitability of design of
an entity’s internal control (no assertion is made about the
operating effectiveness of internal control)

• Engagements to examine the design and operating effec-
tiveness of an entity’s internal control based on criteria es-
tablished by a regulatory agency

Readers should be alert for the issuance of a final standard.

Accounting Pipeline

Proposed FASB Statement Share-Based Payment—an
amendment of FASB Statements No. 123 and 95

This proposed Statement would eliminate the ability to account
for share-based compensation transactions using APB Opinion
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and generally
would require instead that such transactions be accounted for
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using a fair-value-based method. A final Statement is expected to
be issued during the fourth quarter of 2004. See the FASB Web
site at www.fasb.org for complete information.

Proposed FASB Statement Fair Value Measurements

In June 2004, the FASB published an exposure draft of a pro-
posed Statement, Fair Value Measurements, which seeks to estab-
lish a framework for measuring fair value that would apply
broadly to financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities, im-
proving the consistency, comparability, and reliability of the mea-
surements. The fair value framework would clarify the fair value
measurement objective and its application under authoritative
pronouncements that require fair value measurements. The expo-
sure draft would replace any current guidance for measuring fair
value in those pronouncements and would expand current disclo-
sures. Readers should be alert for the issuance of a final State-
ment, which is expected in the first quarter of 2005. Refer to the
FASB Web site at www.fasb.org for complete information.

Proposed FASB Statements Resulting From Short-Term
International Convergence Project

In an effort to reduce or eliminate certain differences between
U.S. GAAP and international financial reporting standards
(IFRS), the FASB issued exposure drafts on the proposed FASB
Statements listed below. See the FASB Web site at www.fasb.org
for complete information.

Proposed FASB This proposed Statement would change the reporting 
Statement Accounting of certain accounting changes specified in APB
Changes and Error Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, by requiring 
Correction—a replacement retrospective application of a newly adopted
of APB Opinion No. 20 accounting policy for most changes in accounting 
and FASB Statement No. 3 principle, including changes in accounting principle 

required by issuance of new pronouncements. It 
would also require reporting of a change in depreciation,
amortization, or depletion method as a change in 
accounting estimate. Readers should be alert for the 
issuance of a final Statement, expected in the first 
quarter of 2005.

(continued)
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Proposed FASB Statement This proposed Statement would eliminate paragraph 
Exchanges of Productive 21(b) of APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for 
Assets—an amendment of Nonmonetary Transactions, which establishes an 
APB Opinion No. 29 exception to the general principle that exchanges of 

nonmonetary assets should be recorded at the fair 
value of the assets exchanged. This proposed Statement 
would require that exchanges of productive assets be 
accounted for based on the fair values of the assets 
involved, unless the exchange transaction does not 
have commercial substance. Readers should be alert 
for the issuance of a final Statement, expected in the 
fourth quarter of 2004.

Proposed FASB Statement This proposed Statement would amend the computations
Earnings per Share— guidance in FASB Statement No. 128, Earnings per 
an amendment of FASB Share, for calculating the number of incremental shares
Statement No. 128 included in diluted shares when applying the Treasury 

stock method. Also, this proposed Statement would 
eliminate the provisions of Statement No. 128 that 
allow an entity to rebut the presumption that contracts
with the option of settling in either cash or stock will 
be settled in stock. In addition, this proposed Statement 
would require that shares that will be issued upon 
conversion of a mandatorily convertible security be 
included in the weighted-average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding used in computing basic earnings 
per share from the date when conversion becomes 
mandatory. Readers should be alert for the issuance of 
a final Statement, which is expected to be released in 
the fourth quarter of 2004.

Proposed FASB Interpretation Accounting for 
Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations—an 
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143

This proposed Interpretation would clarify that a legal obliga-
tion to perform an asset retirement activity that is conditional on
a future event is within the scope of FASB Statement No. 143,
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. Readers should be
alert for the issuance of a final Statement, which is expected to
occur in the fourth quarter of 2004. Refer to the FASB Web site
at www.fasb.org for complete information.
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Proposed FASB EITF Issues

Numerous open issues are under deliberation by the EITF. Readers
should visit the FASB Web site at www.fasb.org/eitf/agenda.shtml
for complete information.

Proposed FASB Staff Positions

A number of proposed FASB Staff Positions are in progress ad-
dressing issues related to FASB Statements No. 140, No. 142,
No. 109 and EITF No. 03-1. Readers should visit the FASB Web
site at www.fasb.org/fasb_staff_positions/proposed_fsp.shtml for
complete information.

Resource Central

Presented below are various resources that practitioners engaged
in the high-technology industry may find beneficial.

Publications 

The following publications deliver valuable guidance and practi-
cal assistance as potent tools to be used on your engagements
(product numbers appear in parentheses):

• Audit Guide Auditing Derivative Instruments, Hedging Ac-
tivities, and Investments in Securities (2001) (product no.
012520kk)

• Audit Guide Auditing Revenue in Certain Industries (2004)
(product no. 012514kk)

• Audit Guide Audit Sampling (2001) (product no.
012530kk)

• Audit Guide Analytical Procedures (2004) (product no.
012554kk)

• Audit Guide Service Organizations: Applying SAS No. 70, as
Amended (2004) (product no. 012774kk)

• Practice Aid Auditing Estimates and Other Soft Accounting
Information (1998) (product no. 010010kk)
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• Accounting Trends & Techniques—2004 (product no.
009896kk)

• Practice Aid Preparing and Reporting on Cash- and Tax-
Basis Financial Statements (1998) (product no. 006701kk)

• Practice Aid Fraud Detection in a GAAS Audit, Revised Edi-
tion (2004) (006615kk)

• General Audit Risk Alert—2004/05 (product no. 022335kk)

Audit and Accounting Manual 

The Audit and Accounting Manual (revised as of July 1, 2004)
(product no. 005134kk) is a valuable nonauthoritative practice
tool designed to provide assistance for audit, review, and compila-
tion engagements. It contains numerous practice aids, samples,
and illustrations, including audit programs; auditor’s reports,
checklists, and engagement letters; management representation
letters; and confirmation letters. 

Educational Courses

The AICPA offers a number of continuing professional educa-
tion (CPE) courses that are valuable to CPAs working in public
practice and industry. Visit www.cpa2biz.com for a complete list
of CPE courses. 

Hotlines

Accounting and Auditing Technical Hotline

The AICPA Technical Hotline answers members’ inquiries about
accounting, auditing, attestation, compilation, and review ser-
vices. Call (888) 777-7077.

Ethics Hotline 

Members of the AICPA’s Professional Ethics Team answer in-
quiries concerning independence and other behavioral issues re-
lated to the application of the AICPA Code of Professional
Conduct. Call (888) 777-7077.
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Web Sites

Further information on matters addressed in this Audit Risk
Alert is available through various publications and services of-
fered by a number of organizations. Some of those organizations
are listed in the following table.

Name of Site Content Internet Address

Accountant’s Resources for accountants www.computercpa.com/
Home Page and financial and business 

professionals

Accountants World Online community of www.accountantsworld.com
independent accountants 
providing resources and tools

AccountingWeb Online community for the www.accountingweb.com
accounting profession

American Institute Summaries of recent auditing www.aicpa.org
of CPAs and other professional 

standards as well as other 
AICPA activities

CPAnet Online community and www.cpanet.com/
resource center for the 
accounting profession

Economy.com Source for analysis, data, www.economy.com
forecasts, and information 
on the United States and 
world economies

Federal Reserve Key interest rates www.ny.frb.org/index.html
Bank of New York

Financial  Summaries of recent www.fasb.org
Accounting accounting pronouncements 
Standards Board and other FASB activities

FirstGov Portal through which all www.firstgov.gov
government agencies can 
be accessed

Government Policy and guidance www.gao.gov
Accountability materials, reports on federal 
Office agency major rules
(formerly General 
Accounting Office)

Governmental Summaries of recent www.gasb.org
Accounting accounting pronouncements
Standards Board and other GASB activities

(continued)
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Name of Site Content Internet Address

Hoovers Online Online information on www.hoovers.com
various companies and 
industries

International Summaries of International www.iasb.org
Accounting Financial Reporting Standards
Standards Board and International Accounting 

Standards

International Information on standards- www.ifac.org
Federation of setting activities in the
Accountants international arena

Public Company Information on accounting www.pcaobus.org
Accounting and auditing, the activities
Oversight Board of the PCAOB, and 

other matters

Securities and The SEC Digest and www.sec.gov
Exchange Statements, EDGAR database,
Commission current SEC rulemaking

Tax Analysts Information on current tax www.tax.org
Online developments

U.S. Tax Code A complete text of the U.S. www.fourmilab.ch/
Online Tax Code ustax/ustax.html

Vision Project Information on the www.cpavision.org
profession’s Vision Project

WebCPA Provides online business www.webcpa.com/
news for the tax and 
accounting community

This Audit Risk Alert replaces High-Technology Industry
Developments—2003/04. High-Technology Industry Developments
is published annually. As you encounter audit or industry issues
that you believe warrant discussion in next year’s Alert, please feel
free to share them with us. Any other comments that you have
about the Alert would also be appreciated. You may e-mail these
comments to lpombo@aicpa.org or write to:

Lori L. Pombo
AICPA
Harborside Financial Center
201 Plaza Three
Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881
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tionally, the Act repeals the Section 809 differential earnings ad­
justment for mutual life insurance companies. Separate portions 
of the Act have multiple effective dates, starting with tax years be­
ginning after December 31, 2003.

Defining a Property Casualty (Liability) Insurance Company
Prior to the Act. The definition of a property casualty insurance 
company was based on the company’s “primary and predominant 
business activity,” that is, a company was considered to be a prop­
erty casualty insurance company if its primary and predominant 
business was insurance. A separate definition of an insurance com­
pany applied to life insurance companies as defined in Section 
816(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, which stated that an “in­
surance company” is any company for which “more than half of 
its business during the tax year is the issuing of insurance or an­
nuity contracts or the reinsuring of risks underwritten by insur­
ance companies.”

Subsequent to the Act. The Act created a uniform definition of an 
insurance company for property casualty and life insurance compa­
nies by amending the definition of a property casualty insurance 
company in Section 831 to include the definition stated in Section 
816(a). The new definition of a property casualty insurance com­
pany may affect companies that have substantial amounts of other 
business activity, such as investment income relative to their insur­
ance income. The classification of an entity as an insurance com­
pany for federal tax purposes has potentially broad implications, 
including classification as a corporation for federal tax purposes, 
eligibility for certain favorable accounting methods, and the 
avoidance of classification as a passive foreign investment com­
pany. The change is effective for tax years beginning after Decem­
ber 31, 2003, for most property casualty insurance companies.

Tax-Exempt Status of a Property Casualty Insurance 
Company (Section 501(c)(15))
The effective date for changes is for tax years beginning after De­
cember 31, 2003, with special transition provisions with respect 
to certain companies. The summary below is for informational
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purposes only and should not be relied upon as a substitute for a 
complete reading of the code.

Existing Law in 2003
Pension Funding Equity 

Act o f  2004 Amendments

Non-life insurance company 
qualifies for tax-exempt status 
if the greater of net or direct 
written premiums, determined 
on a controlled group basis, 
does not exceed $350K.

There is no limitation on the 
amount of “nonpremium” (e.g., 
investment) income that a 
tax-exempt non-life insurance 
company may receive in a tax year. 
However, the amount of 
nonpremium income may affect 
whether the entity is an insurance 
company for federal tax purposes 
and therefore determines its 
tax-exempt status.
Control group definition: The 
premium test is determined by 
including all members of a 
controlled group, which is defined 
by Section 1563(a) (50% 
ownership requirement, with 
life insurance companies included).

1. For companies other than mutual 
property casualty companies, 
annual gross receipts, determined on a 
controlled group basis, must not exceed 
$600K and premiums received must be 
greater than 50% of gross receipts.

2. For a mutual property casualty company, 
annual gross receipts must not exceed 
$150K and annual premiums must be 
greater than 35% of gross receipts, 
provided that certain code requirements 
are met.

1. The premium requirement determines 
that nonpremium (e.g., investment) 
income must be $300K or less.

2. For a mutual property casualty company, 
the aforementioned premium 
requirement determines that the most 
nonpremium (e.g., investment) income 
a company can have is $97,499 (less than 
65% of $150K)

Control group definition: The Act adds 
the requirement to include the receipts 
of foreign and tax-exempt corporations 
to the control group.

The changes to tax-exempt status under Section 501(c)(15) will 
cause many companies that were tax-exempt in 2003 to become 
taxable in 2004. These companies should evaluate the implica­
tions of a transition from tax-exempt to taxable status. Consider­
ation should be given to the effect of any change on accounting 
methods, accounting periods, carryover of tax attributes, filing 
requirements, and personal holding company taxes. Considera-
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tion should also be given to any financial statement implications, 
including annual statements for 2003 that may be filed with state 
insurance commissioners.

Section 831(b) Election
The Act also made a small change to the definition of an insurance 
company that may elect to be taxed only on investment income.

SEC Guidance About Non-GAAP Financial Measures
In January 2003, the SEC published its final rule to implement 
Section 401(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Section 401(b) re­
quired the SEC to issue a rule about the disclosure of pro forma 
financial information in any reports filed with the SEC, or in any 
public disclosures or press releases. The SEC rule adopts the term 
non-GAAP financial measures rather than pro forma financial in­
formation to eliminate confusion with pro forma disclosures that 
are required under existing SEC rules and regulations.

As required by the Act, whenever a company presents a non- 
GAAP financial measure, Regulation G will require presentation 
of a numerical reconciliation to the most directly comparable 
measurement calculated using GAAP. Regulation G also explic­
itly prohibits the presentation of inaccurate or misleading non- 
GAAP financial measures.

The final SEC rule defines a non-GAAP financial measure as a 
numerical measure of a company’s historical or future financial 
performance, financial position, or cash flows that excludes (in­
cludes) amounts or is subject to adjustments that have the effect
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Existing Law in 2003

The choice to be taxed only on 
investment income (831(b) election):
•  Is available if the greater of net 

or direct written premiums 
exceeds $350K but does not 
exceed $1.2 million.

Pension Funding Equity 
Act of 2004 Amendments

The choice to be taxed only on investment 
income (831(b) election):
• Is available if the greater of net or 

direct written premiums does not exceed 
$1.2 million (floor is eliminated).



of excluding (including) amounts, that are included (excluded) in 
the most directly comparable measure calculated in accordance 
with GAAP.

The definition of non-GAAP finan cia l measures specifically ex­
cludes measures that are required to be disclosed by GAAP, SEC 
rules, or an applicable system of regulation imposed by a govern­
ment, governmental authority, or self-regulatory organization. 
Therefore, statutory-basis financial ratios (for example, combined 
ratios) used by insurance registrants in SEC filings to describe the 
results of operations are considered outside the scope of the non- 
GAAP rules as long as those ratios are identical (in terms of both 
formula and result) to those presented in required filings with in­
surance regulators.

In addition to the newly adopted Regulation G, the SEC also 
amended Regulations S-K and S-B to impose additional require­
ments and restrictions on the disclosure of non-GAAP financial 
measures in SEC filings. Among other things, the amendments 
to Regulations S-K and S-B prohibit the presentation of perfor­
mance measures that exclude charges or gains identified as “non­
recurring, infrequent or unusual,” unless the excluded items meet 
certain conditions. Many insurance companies use the term oper­
ating earnings (or similar non-GAAP terms) in discussing finan­
cial results within SEC filings. Insurance companies have defined 
operating earnings in a variety of different ways; however, the most 
common definition is net income excluding after-tax realized in­
vestment gains and losses. Under the new non-GAAP rules, the 
term operating earnings is prohibited from being used in SEC fil­
ings because it is considered a performance measure that is ad­
justed to eliminate or smooth items (such as realized investment 
gains and losses), which have either occurred in the prior two 
years or are likely to recur within two years from the balance- 
sheet date. The SEC staff has occasionally required several insur­
ance companies to restate Form 10-Q filings because the 
registrants originally used the term operating earnings or a similar 
term in discussing results of operations. The SEC staff also has re­
quired insurance companies to discontinue using operating earn­
ings in press releases.
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NAIC— Actuarial Data Integrity
Effective for 2004 year-end audits, the NAIC Property and Casu­
alty Annual Statement Instructions were revised to require addi­
tional coordination among the auditor, the appointed actuary, 
and management and may potentially require additional proce­
dures for the auditor related to claim loss and loss adjustment ex­
pense data. Section 9 of the instructions, Scope o f  Examination 
and Report o f  Independent Certified Public Accountant, states:

The insurer shall also require that the independent certified 
public accountant subject the data used by the appointed actu­
ary to testing procedures. The auditor is required to determine 
what historical data and methods have been used by manage­
ment in developing the loss reserve estimate and whether he or 
she will rely on the same data or other statistical data in evalu­
ating the reasonableness of the loss reserve estimate. After iden­
tifying the relevant data, the auditor should obtain an 
understanding of the controls related to the completeness, ac­
curacy, and classification of loss data and perform testing as the 
auditor deems appropriate. Through inquiry of the appointed 
actuary, the auditor should obtain an understanding of the data 
identified by the appointed actuary as significant. It is recog­
nized that there will be instances when data identified by the 
appointed actuary as significant to his or her reserve projections 
would not otherwise have been tested as part of the audit, and 
separate testing would be required. Unless otherwise agreed 
among the appointed actuary, management and the auditor, 
the scope of the work performed by the auditor in testing the 
claims data in the course of the audit would be sufficient to de­
termine whether the data tested is fairly stated in all material re­
spects in relation to the statutory financial statements taken as a 
whole. The auditing procedures should be applied to the claim 
loss and defense and cost containment expense data used by the 
appointed actuary and would be applied to activity that oc­
curred in the current calendar year (e.g., tests of payments on 
claims paid during the current calendar year).

There may be circumstances in which data deemed significant by 
the appointed actuary is not included as part of the statutory fi­
nancial statement audit. This may result in a need for additional 
testing outside the scope of the statutory audit to comply with
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the NAIC data integrity requirements. The conclusion regarding 
the need for the auditor to perform additional procedures should 
be agreed with management, after discussion with the appointed 
actuary. Additional procedures needed to fulfill the NAIC re­
quirement for data integrity could be accomplished through an 
Agreed-Upon Procedures report, performed in accordance with 
AICPA professional standards.

Consideration of the Examiner’s Handbook
The Model Audit Rule states that auditors “shall” consider the 
procedures in the NAIC Financial Condition Examiners Hand­
book (the Examiner's Handbook) in the conduct of the audit as 
the independent certified public accountant deems necessary. Al­
though the AICPA supports increased communication with reg­
ulators and a better understanding of the financial examination 
process and procedures, it does not require auditors to perform 
procedures from the Examiner's Handbook that they would not 
have otherwise performed as part of a generally accepted audit­
ing standards (GAAS) audit. This revision of the Model Audit 
Rule places emphasis on giving consideration to the procedures 
contained in the Examiner's Handbook. In planning the audit, 
auditors may consider incorporating into their planning docu­
mentation that they have given consideration to the Examiner's 
Handbook procedures as they deemed necessary. In the conduct 
of financial examinations, examiners review, use, and/or rely 
upon the auditor's working papers.

Reminder— Access to CPA Audit Documentation
An external auditor is required by the NAIC Model Audit Rule 
to provide timely access to or copies of audit documentation 
when requested by regulators.

Interpretation No. 1, “Providing Access to or Copies of Audit 
Documentation to a Regulator,” of SAS No. 96, Audit Documenta­
tion (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9339.01-.15), 
addresses the responsibilities of an auditor when a regulator re­
quests access to audit documentation. Auditors should note that 
PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 3 (AICPA, Professional Stan­
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dards, vol. 1, PC sec. 150), supersedes SAS No. 96 for audits of 
public companies and other issuers.

The AICPA’s task force on NAIC matters has worked actively 
with subgroups consisting of designated regulators and NAIC 
representatives during 2003 and 2004 to pursue ways to increase 
the examiners’ reliance upon the statutory audit and use of un­
derlying audit documentation. Suggested protocols were for­
warded to the Financial Examiners Handbook Technical Group 
for consideration of possible revisions to the Examiner’s Hand­
book, and letters were sent to chief examiners in the states appris­
ing them of the new process.

The AICPA NAIC Task Force helped to establish the four-step 
process to provide a protocol for financial examiners that are hav­
ing difficulty in pursuing a resolution of (1) questions with re­
spect to a firm’s individual engagement to perform a statutory 
audit, (2) difficulties in gaining access to working papers, or (3) 
the regulator concerns about the work performed by the CPA. If 
a financial examiner determines that additional response is re­
quired, after informing appropriate management, the financial 
examiner would contact the following individuals in this sug­
gested order, as needed:

1. The engagement partner

2. The designated national firm representative

3. Chair of the insurer’s audit committee

4. State board of accountancy, ethics (or quality review) com­
mittee, or other regulatory bodies deemed appropriate

Firms or individual practitioners performing statutory audits of 
regulated insurance entities that wish to designate a national firm 
representative and have not already done so should contact NAIC 
representatives at (816) 783-8006 or (816) 783-8132.

NAIC— Sarbanes-Oxley Initiative Update
During late 2003 and into 2004, the NAIC has been reviewing 
the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The NAIC is
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considering proposed revisions to the Model Audit Rule to incor­
porate certain aspects of Sarbanes-Oxley, which would be applica­
ble to all insurers, both public and nonpublic. Of the 11 titles of 
Sarbanes-Oxley, the key titles of interest to the NAIC are Titles II, 
III, and IV. These Titles relate to auditor independence (Title II), 
corporate responsibility (including audit committees) (Title III), 
and enhanced financial disclosures (Title IV). Enhanced financial 
disclosures include managements assertion relative to the effec­
tiveness of its internal control over financial reporting and the au­
ditor s attestation report on management’s assertion.

At the July 2004 interim NAIC meeting, subgroups were formed 
to address Titles II and III. The subgroups consist of regulators, 
industry representatives, and members of the public accounting 
profession drawn from the AICPA’s NAIC Task Force. Title IV 
will be addressed after Titles II and III have been completed. Both 
Title II and III Subgroups expect to present recommendations for 
changes to the Model Audit Rule to the NAIC/AICPA Working 
Group, the sponsor of the initiative, at the December 2004 
Quarterly NAIC meeting. December 31, 2006, is the earliest po­
tential date for new guidance relating to Title IV.

Relative to any Sarbanes-Oxley-related modifications to the 
Model Audit Rule, substantive changes to the Rule must go 
through the NAIC’s due process because the Model Audit Rule is 
an Accreditation Standard. Auditors should monitor the progress 
of this initiative.

Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002
The market for terrorism risk insurance was severely disrupted by 
the events of September 11, 2001. Those events resulted in rein­
surers choosing to no longer cover terrorism risk, or if they do, to 
make coverage extremely expensive. On November 26, 2002, the 
President signed into law the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act 
(TRIA) of 2002. TRIA, which became effective immediately, es­
tablished a temporary federal program of shared public and pri­
vate compensation for insured commercial property and casualty 
losses resulting from acts of terrorism.
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Accordingly, terrorism exclusions on existing insurance policies 
were removed and all policyholders had the ability to secure cov­
erage for terrorism risk through mandatory offer requirements 
placed on insurers. The TRIA places the federal government only 
temporarily in the terrorism risk reinsurance business because the 
program was written to sunset on December 31, 2005.

Under the program, once an insurer has suffered a loss equal to its 
deductible, the United States Treasury will cover 90 percent of the 
losses above the deductible. The insurer's deductible increases over 
the life of the program. In 2004, the deductible was equal to 10 
percent and increases to 15 percent in 2005, the last year of the 
program under the original Act. New legislation will need to be 
passed to extend the TRIA subsequent to 2005. The TRIA also pro­
vides the Treasury with the authority to recoup federal payments via 
policyholder surcharges. The maximum amount of any potential 
policyholder surcharge that can be imposed is 3 percent per year.

The NAIC members have adopted model disclosure forms to as­
sist insurers in complying with the TRIA. The model disclosure 
forms may be used by insurers to meet their obligation under the 
rules, provide policyholders with the status of current coverage, 
and, in some cases, make a selection regarding future insurance 
coverage for acts of terrorism. Insurers must comply with state 
law and the Act, and are encouraged to review the disclosure 
forms in light of their current policy language, state legal require­
ments, and the provisions of the TRIA.

New Auditing and Attestation Pronouncements, Quality 
Control, and Other Guidance

Presented below is a list of auditing and attestation pronounce­
ments, guides, and other guidance issued since the publication 
of last year's Alert. For information on auditing, attestation 
and related standards and guidance issued subsequent to the 
writing of this Alert, please refer to the AICPA Web site at 
www.aicpa.org/members/div/auditstd/technic.htm. The Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) sets auditing 
and attestation standards for audits of public companies. See the
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PCAOB Web site at www.pcaobus.org for information about its 
activities and any recently issued standards. You may also look for 
announcements of newly issued standards in The CPA Letter, 
Journal o f  Accountancy, and in the quarterly electronic newsletter, 
In Our Opinion, issued by the AICPA Auditing Standards team 
and available at www.aicpa.org.

SOP 04-1
(Not applicable to audits 
conducted in accordance with 
PCAOB standards)
Revision of Ethics 
Interpretation No. 101-3
Interpretation No. 5 of Chapter 1, 
“Attest Engagements,” of SSAE 
No. 10, Attestation Standards: 
Revision and Recodification (AICPA 
Professional Standards, vol. 1, AT 
sec. 101), as amended
Interpretation No. 17 of SAS No 58 
(Not applicable to audits conducted 
in accordance with PCAOB standards)

Interpretation No. 18 of SAS No. 58 
(Not applicable to audits conducted 
in accordance with PCAOB standards)

AICPA Audit and 
Accounting Guide

PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 1 
(Applicable to audits conducted in 
accordance with PCAOB 
standards only)
PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2 
(Applicable to audits conducted in 
accordance with PCAOB 
standards only)
PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 3 
(Applicable to audits conducted in 
accordance with PCAOB 
standards only)

Auditing the Statement o f  Social Insurance

“Performance of Nonattest Services” (AICPA, 
Professional Standards, vol. 2, ET sec. 101.05)
“Attest Engagements on Financial 
Information Included in XBRL Instance 
Documents” (AICPA, Professional Standards, 
vol. 1, 9101.47-.54)

“Clarification in the Audit Report of the 
Extent of Testing of Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting in Accordance with 
Generally Accepted Auditing Standards” 
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1,
AU sec. 9508.85-.88)
“Reference to PCAOB Standards in an 
Audit Report of a Nonissuer” (AICPA, 
Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 
9508.89-.92)
Depository and Lending Institutions; Banks 
and Savings Institutions, Credit Unions, 
Finance Companies, and Mortgage Companies
References in Auditors’ Reports to the Standards 
o f  the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (AICPA, Professional Standards, 
vol. 1, PC sec. 130)
An Audit o f  Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting Performed in Conjunction With 
an Audit o f  Financial Statements (AICPA, 
Professional Standards, vol. 1, PC sec. 140)
Audit Documentation (AICPA,
Professional Standards, vol. 1, PC sec. 150)
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Amendment to Interim Auditing 
Standards (Applicable to audits 
conducted in accordance with 
PCAOB standards only)
Amendment to Interim Auditing 
Standards (Applicable to audits 
conducted in accordance with 
PCAOB standards only)

PCAOB Rules (Applicable to 
audits conducted in accordance 
with PCAOB standards only)

PCAOB Implementation Guidance

Statements on Standards for 
Accounting and Review Services

AICPA Practice Alert No. 2003-3 
(Nonauthoritative)
AICPA Practice Alert No. 2004-01 
(Nonauthoritative)
AICPA Technical Practice Aid 
9110.15 (Nonauthoritative)
AICPA Practice Aid 
(Nonauthoritative)
AICPA Practice Aid 
(Nonauthoritative)
AICPA Practice Aid 
(Nonauthoritative)
AICPA Practice Aid 
(Nonauthoritative)
AICPA Practice Aid 
(Nonauthoritative)

Part o f  Audit Performed by Other 
Independent Auditors (AICPA,
Professional Standards, vol. 1, PC sec. 150)

Conforming Amendments to PCAOB 
Interim Standards Resulting from  the 
Adoption o f  PCAOB No. 2, An Audit of 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
Performed in Conjunction With an Audit 
of Financial Statements
In the past year the PCAOB has passed 
numerous rules (not standards) relating 
to the implementation of the Sarbanes- 
Oxley Act of 2002. For a complete listing of 
PCAOB rules go to www.pcaobus.org.
The PCAOB issues Q&As and other 
practice materials. For a complete listing of 
PCAOB aids, go to www.pcaobus.org.
For information on compilations and reviews, 
see the Compilation and Review Alert—2004-05 
as well as the link www.aicpa.org/members/ 
div/ auditstd/index.htm.
Acceptance and Continuance o f  Clients 
and Engagements
Illegal Acts

Reporting on Medicaid/Medicare Cost Reports

Audit Committee Toolkit

Valuation o f  Privately-Held Company 
Equity Securities Issued as Compensation
Auditing Governmental Financial 
Statements: Programs and Other Practice Aids
Applying OCBOA in State and Local 
Governmental Financial Statements
Establishing and Maintaining a System o f  
Quality Control fo r  a CPA Firm’s Accounting 
and Auditing Practice

Items having particular significance to the insurance industry are 
briefly explained here. The following summaries are for informa­
tional purposes only and should not be relied upon as a substitute 
for a complete reading of the applicable guidance. To obtain copies
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of AICPA standards and Guides, contact AICPA Service Center 
Operations at (888) 777-7077 or go online at www.cpa2biz.com.

AICPA Attest Interpretation No. 5, “Attest Engagements on 
Financial Information Included in XBRL Instance Documents,” of 
Chapter 1 of SSAE No. 10

In September 2003, the AICPA issued attest Interpretation No. 5, 
“Attest Engagements on Financial Information Included in 
XBRL Instance Documents,” of Chapter 1, “Attest Engage­
ments,” of SSAE No. 10, Attestation Standards: Revision and Re­
codification  (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AT sec. 
9101.47-.54). Interpretation No. 5 explains the terms  XBRL and 
XBRL instance document, and the practitioners considerations 
when engaged to examine and report on whether an XBRL in­
stance document accurately reflects the financial information it 
includes. For more information on XBRL, see the section “XBRL 
Technology” in the “Industry and Economic Developments” sec­
tion of this Alert.

PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2, An Audit of Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting Performed in Conjunction With an Audit of 
Financial Statements

Effective for audits subsequent to November 15, 2004 for accel­
erated filers2, and July 15, 2005 for nonaccelerated filers (market 
capitalization less than $75 million) and foreign private issuers,

2. On November 30, 2004, the SEC delayed the filing deadline for the first internal 
control report over financial reporting for some accelerated filers. Accelerated filers 
with a market capitalization o f less than $700 million and a fiscal year ending be­
tween and including November 15, 2004, and February 29, 2005 now have an ad­
ditional 45 days to file management's first report on internal control over financial 
reporting and the related reports of their auditors as long as the company meets cer­
tain conditions. To facilitate the SEC's objectives and subject to SEC approval, on 
November 30, 2004, the PCAOB adopted a temporary transitional rule, which ex­
pires July 15, 2005. The temporary rule relieves auditors from two Auditing Stan­
dard No. 2 requirements. The rule permits auditors to (1) date their reports on 
management's assessment o f the effectiveness o f internal control over financial re­
porting, later than the date o f their reports on the financial statements (for applica­
ble companies), and (2) not include a paragraph referencing the separate report on 
internal control over financial reporting in the auditors separate report on the finan­
cial statements (for applicable companies).
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this standard establishes requirements that apply when an auditor 
of an issuer is engaged to audit both an issuer's financial state­
ments and management’s assessment of the effectiveness of inter­
nal control over financial reporting, requirements referred to in 
Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and described 
in the following paragraph. The PCAOB has published staff guid­
ance, Staff Questions and Answers: Auditing Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting, issued in tandem with SEC guidance for is­
suers, on audits of internal control. The document can be found at 
www.pcaobus.org/Standards/Staff_Questions_and_Answers/index.asp. 
The guidance consists of questions and answers dealing with such 
issues as independence, scope and extent of testing, evaluating 
deficiencies, multiple location issues, using the work of others, 
and service organizations. Registered public accounting firms 
must comply with the standards of the PCAOB in connection 
with the preparation or issuance of any audit report on the finan­
cial statements of an issuer.

A Related SEC Rule—Management's Report on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting and Certification of 
Disclosure in Exchange Act Periodic Reports
As directed by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the 
SEC adopted rules requiring companies subject to the reporting 
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, other than 
registered investment companies, to include in their annual re­
ports a report of management on the company’s internal control 
over financial reporting. The internal control report must include 
a statement of management’s responsibility for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for 
the company; management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal control over financial reporting as of the end 
of the company’s most recent fiscal year, a statement identifying 
the framework used by management to evaluate the effectiveness 
of the company’s internal control over financial reporting, and a 
statement that the registered public accounting firm that audited 
the company’s financial statements included in the annual report 
has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of 
the company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Under the new rules, a company is required to file the registered 
public accounting firm's attestation report as part of the annual re­
port. Furthermore, there is a requirement that management evalu­
ate any change in the company’s internal control over financial 
reporting that occurred during a fiscal quarter that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s 
internal control over financial reporting. Finally, there are amend­
ments to the rules and forms under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934 and the Investment Company Act of 1940 to revise the Sec­
tion 302 certification requirements and to require issuers to pro­
vide the certifications required by Sections 302 and 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibits to certain periodic reports. 
The rule was effective August 14, 2003, with certain exceptions. 
See the SEC Web site at www.sec.gov for more information.

Conforming Amendments to PCAOB Interim Standards 
Resulting from the Adoption of PCAOB Auditing Standard 
No. 2, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
Performed in Conjunction With an Audit of Financial Statements

This standard conforms the PCAOB interim auditing standards 
as a result of the issuance of PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2. 
The standard amends and supersedes certain sections of the 
PCAOB interim auditing standards. You can check the PCAOB 
Web site for the list of interim standards that are affected.

New Accounting Pronouncements and Other Guidance
Presented below is a list of accounting pronouncements and 
other guidance issued since the publication of last year’s Alert. 
For information on accounting standards issued subsequent to 
the writing of this Alert, please refer to the AICPA Web site at 
www.aicpa.org, the FASB Web site at www.fasb.org, and the 
PCAOB Web site at www.pcaobus.org. You may also look for an­
nouncements of newly issued standards in The CPA Letter and 
Journal o f  Accountancy.
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FASB Statement No. 151

FASB Statement No. 132 (R) 
(revised 2003)
FASB Interpretation No. 46 (R) 
(revised December 2003)
FASB EITF Issues 

FASB Staff Positions

SEC Rules, Regulations, Staff 
Accounting Bulletins, etc.
SOP 03-3 

SOP 03-4

SOP 03-5

SOP 04-2

AICPA Audit and 
Accounting Guide

Technical Practice Aids— 
Questions and Answers

Technical Practice Aid— 
Questions and Answers
Technical Practice Aid— 
Questions and Answers

Inventory Costs, An Amendment o f  ARB 
No. 43, Chapter 4
Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and 
Other Postretirement Benefits
Consolidation o f  Variable Interest Entities

Go to www.fasb.org for a complete list of 
EITF issues.
Go to www.fasb.org for a list of any FASB 
Staff Positions related to FASB Statements, 
FASB Interpretations, and EITFs.
Go to www.sec.gov for a complete list 
of all SEC Guidance.
Accounting fo r  Certain Loans or Debt 
Securities Acquired in a Transfer
Reporting Financial Highlights and Schedule o f  
Investments by Nonregistered Investment 
Partnerships: An Amendment to the Audit and 
Accounting Guide Audits of Investment 
Companies and AICPA SOP 95-2, Financial 
Reporting by Nonpublic Investment Partnerships
Financial Highlights o f  Separate Accounts: An 
Amendment to the Audit and Accounting 
Guide Audits of Investment Companies
Accounting fo r  Real Estate Time-Sharing 
Transactions
Depository and Lending Institutions; Banks 
and Savings Institutions, Credit Unions,
Finance Companies and Mortgage Companies
Q&As Related to the Implementation o f  
SOP 03-1, Accounting and Reporting by 
Insurance Enterprises for Certain Non- 
Traditional Long-Duration Contracts and 
Separate Accounts
Sale o f  Real Estate Investments Held by Employee 
Benefit Plans and Discontinued Operations
Applicability o f  FASB Interpretation No. 45— 
Guarantors Accounting and Disclosure 
Requirements for Guarantees, Including 
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of 
Others—Mortgage Guarantees

(continued)
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Technical Practice Aid— 
Questions and Answers

Technical Practice Aid— 
Questions and Answers

Technical Practice Aids— 
Questions and Answers

Technical Practice Aids— 
Questions and Answers

Practice Aid 

Practice Aid 

Practice Aid

Practice Aid

Applicability o f  FASB Interpretation No. 45— 
Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure 
Requirements for Guarantees, Including 
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of 
Others—Physician Loans
Other-Than-Temporary Impairment Losses 
on Investments by Not-for-Profit Health Care 
Organizations
Not For Profit Technical Practice Aids 
(Excluding Certain TPAs Pertaining to FASB 
Statement No. 136 (Section IT  6140)
Not For Profit Technical Practice Aids 
pertaining to FASB Statement No. 136 
(including those applicable to Not-For-Profit 
Health Care Organizations) (Section IT  6400)
Valuation o f  Privately-Held Company Equity 
Securities Issued as Compensation
Accounting Trends and Techniques—Employee 
Benefit Plans
Assets Acquired in a Business Combination to 
Be Used in Research and Development Activities: 
A Focus on Software, Electronic Devices, and 
Pharmaceutical Industries
Auditing Governmental Financial Statements: 
Programs and Other Practice Aids

Of the pronouncements and other guidance listed in the previous 
table, those having particular significance to the insurance indus­
try are briefly explained here. The following summaries are for in­
formational purposes only and should not be relied upon as a 
substitute for a complete reading of the applicable standard. To 
obtain copies of AICPA literature, contact the Service Center Op­
erations at (888) 777-7077, or go online at www.cpa2biz.com.

FASB Statement No. 132 (Revised 2003), Employers’  Disclosures 
about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits

This new standard improves financial statement disclosures for 
defined benefit plans. The project addresses transparency con­
cerns of investors and other financial statement users. The stan­
dard requires that companies provide more details about their 
plan assets, benefit obligations, cash flows, benefit costs, and 
other relevant information. For the first time, companies are re-
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quired to provide financial statement users with a breakdown of 
plan assets by category, such as equity, debt, and real estate. A de­
scription of investment policies and strategies and target alloca­
tion percentages, or target ranges, for these asset categories also 
are required in financial statements. In addition to expanded an­
nual disclosures, the FASB is improving interim financial state­
ments as certain disclosures are required on a quarterly basis. The 
guidance is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15,
2003, and for quarters beginning after December 15, 2003.

FASB Interpretation No. 46(R) (Revised December 2003), 
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities

This interpretation was issued in December 2003 to incorporate 
and alter practice issues identified during the implementation of 
the original interpretation. The interpretation may present a wide 
range of implications for insurance and reinsurance companies 
based on the various types of activities and investments compa­
nies have entered into with entities that likely fall under the defi­
nition of a VIE. Companies might have a variety of involvements 
with VIEs that require consideration regarding the potential for 
the company to be a primary beneficiary, and therefore, the con­
solidator of a VIE.

For insurance companies consolidating their GAAP statements, 
FASB Interpretation No. 46(R) addresses consolidation by busi­
ness enterprises of entities to which the usual condition of con­
solidation described in ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial 
Statements, does not apply because either the equity investors in 
an entity (1) do not have the characteristics of a controlling fi­
nancial interest or (2) do not have sufficient equity at risk for the 
entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated fi­
nancial support. An entity lacking one of these characteristics is 
referred to as a variable interest entity. FASB Interpretation No. 
46(R) governs how businesses should assess interests in other en­
tities in determining whether to consolidate (or deconsolidate) 
that entity. For further information on this standard see the sec­
tion “What’s New With Variable Interest Entities?” in the “Ac­
counting and Auditing” section of this Alert.

63



SOP 03-5, Financial Highlights of Separate Accounts: An 
Amendment to the Audit and Accounting Guide Audits of 
Investment Companies

In December 2003, the AICPA Accounting Standards Executive 
Committee (AcSEC) issued SOP 03-5, Financial Highlights o f  Sep­
arate Accounts: An Amendment to the Audit and Accounting Guide 
Audits of Investment Companies. The SOP provides guidance on 
reporting financial highlights by separate accounts of insurance en­
terprises. The SOP is effective for annual financial statements is­
sued for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2003, and for 
interim financial statements issued after initial application. Presen­
tation of previously issued financial highlights on a comparable 
basis is permitted, but not required. The provisions of this SOP 
should be applied prospectively from the beginning of the year of 
adoption. However, if adopting this SOP results in presentation 
different from prior periods, companies should explain the effects 
of adoption on their financial highlights calculations.

The AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide for Financial Institutions
Many insurance companies have associations with, or are part of, 
financial institutions. A new combined financial institution 
Audit and Accounting Guide entitled Depository and Lending In­
stitutions: Banks and Savings Institutions, Credit Unions, Finance 
Companies, and  Mortgage Companies was published in April 
2004. The Guide reconciles guidance in the former three Audit 
and Accounting Guides Banks and Savings Institutions, Audits o f  
Credit Unions, and Audits o f  Finance Companies, which was ac­
complished through the issuance of SOP 01-6, Accounting by 
Certain Entities (Including Entities with Trade Receivables) That 
Lend to or Finance the Activities o f  Others. More specifically, the 
new Guide reconciles the specialized accounting and financial re­
porting guidance established in the former Guides, eliminates 
differences in accounting and disclosure, and carries forward ac­
counting guidance for transactions determined to be unique to 
certain financial institutions. The Guide contains topics such as 
investments, loans, mortgage banking activities, real estate and 
foreclosed assets, deposits, repurchase agreements, equity, trust
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services, insurance activities, and other areas. The Guide also in­
corporates recent regulatory issuances from the FDIC, Office of 
Thrift Supervisor, OCC, FRB, and the National Credit Union 
Administration. Finally, the Guide has a special chapter on insur­
ance activities. To order a copy, go to www.cpa2biz.com.

Technical Practice Aid— Q&As Related to the Implementation 
of SOP 03-1, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises 
for Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and 
Separate Accounts

In September 2004, the AICPA released a set of technical ques­
tions and answers (Q&As) on financial accounting and reporting 
issues related to SOP 03-1, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance 
Enterprises fo r  Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts 
and Separate Accounts. The guidance includes the following TPAs:

TPA 6300.05 Definition of an Insurance Benefit Feature

TPA 6300.06 Definition of an Assessment

TPA 6300.07 Level of Aggregation of Additional Liabilities De­
termined Under SOP 03-1

TPA 6300.08 Losses Followed by Losses

TPA 6300.09 Reinsurance

TPA 6300.10 Accounting for Contracts That Provide Annuitiza­
tion Benefits

Adoption of this guidance that results in changes to previously re­
ported information should be recorded in accordance with APB 
Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes. For more specific informa­
tion see the section “Life and Health Spotlight—Guarantees and 
Other Developments” in the “Industry and Economic Develop­
ments” section of this Alert.

On the Horizon
Auditors should keep abreast of auditing and accounting devel­
opments and upcoming guidance that may affect their engage­
ments. Presented below is brief information about some ongoing
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projects that have particular significance to the insurance indus­
try or that may result in very significant changes. Remember that 
exposure drafts are nonauthoritative and cannot be used as a basis 
for changing GAAP or GAAS.

The following table lists the various standard-setting bodies’ Web 
sites where information may be obtained on outstanding expo­
sure drafts, including downloading a copy of the exposure draft. 
These Web sites contain much more in-depth information about 
proposed standards and other projects in the pipeline. Many 
more accounting and auditing projects exist beyond those dis­
cussed below. Readers should refer to information provided by 
the various standard-setting bodies for further information.

Standard-Setting Body Web Site

AICPA Auditing Standards www.aicpa.org/members/div/auditstd/drafts.htm 
Board (ASB)
AICPA Accounting Standards www.aicpa.org/members/div/acctstd/edo/index.htm 
Executive Committee (AcSEC)
AICPA Accounting and www.aicpa.org/members/div/auditstd/index.htm
Review Services Committee
(ARSC)
Financial Accounting www.fasb.org
Standards Board (FASB)
Public Company Accounting www.pcaobus.org 
Oversight Board (PCAOB)
Professional Ethics Executive www.aicpa.org/members/div/ethics/index.htm 
Committee (PEEC)

Auditing Pipeline— AICPA
(Note that this discussion of literature does not apply to audits of 
public companies.)

New Framework for the Audit Process
The Auditing Standards Board has issued an exposure draft 
proposing seven new SASs relating to the auditor’s risk assess­
ment process for audits of nonissuers.

66

http://www.aicpa.org/members/div/auditstd/drafts.htm
http://www.aicpa.org/members/div/acctstd/edo/index.htm
http://www.aicpa.org/members/div/auditstd/index.htm
http://www.fasb.org
http://www.pcaobus.org
http://www.aicpa.org/members/div/ethics/index.htm


The ASB believes that the requirements and guidance provided 
in the proposed SASs, if adopted, would result in a substantial 
change in audit practice and in more effective audits. The pri­
mary objective of the proposed SASs is to enhance auditors’ ap­
plication of the audit risk model in practice by requiring:

• A more in-depth understanding of the entity and its envi­
ronment, including its internal control, that would better 
enable the auditor to identify the risks of material misstate­
ment in the financial statements and any steps the entity is 
taking to mitigate them.

• A more rigorous assessment of the risks of material misstate­
ment of the financial statements based on that understanding.

• Improved linkage between the assessed risks of material 
misstatement and the nature, timing, and extent of audit 
procedures performed in response to those risks.

You should keep abreast of the status of these projects and pro­
jected exposure drafts, inasmuch as they will substantially affect 
the audit process. More information can be obtained on the 
AICPA’s Web site at www.aicpa.org.

Revisions—Interpretation No. 12 of SAS No. 62
The AICPA Audit Issues Task Force (AITF) is discussing possible 
revisions to Interpretation 12, “Evaluation of the Appropriateness 
of Informative Disclosures in Insurance Enterprises’ Financial 
Statements Prepared on a Statutory Basis”, of SAS No. 62, Special 
Reports (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 623), for is­
sues surrounding the applicability of new GAAP disclosures to be 
included in statutory financial statements prior to consideration by 
the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC). 
Auditors and insurance companies should monitor this issue as the 
AITF plans to have this resolved for year end 2004 reporting.

Auditing Pipeline— PCAOB
The PCAOB is continuing to develop new rules and standards. 
For a complete listing of upcoming and finalized PCAOB rules 
and standards, go to www.pcaobus.org/rulemaking_docket.asp.
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Some areas the PCAOB will be concentrating on in the future in­
clude, but are not limited to, fraud, conflicts of interest, and au­
ditor communications.

Accounting Pipeline— Deferred Acquisition Costs 
on Internal Replacements

Under GAAP, commissions, allowances, and other costs that vary 
with and are primarily related to the acquisition of new and re­
newal business are generally deferred and amortized. These de­
ferred amounts, referred to as deferred acquisition costs (DAC), 
are recorded as an asset on the balance sheet and amortized to in­
come in a systematic manner based on related contract revenues 
or gross profits or gross margins. GAAP concerning the treatment 
of existing DAC related to internal replacements is unclear. FASB 
Statement No. 97 requires the writeoff of existing DAC when a 
FASB Statement No. 97 universal life contract replaces a FASB 
Statement No. 60 traditional life insurance contract. However, 
GAAP is silent about whether to write off or maintain DAC if a 
policy is replaced with a comparable product (for example, if a 
FASB Statement No. 97 deferred annuity replaces another FASB 
Statement No. 97 deferred annuity). To the extent an insurer fol­
lows a policy of maintaining DAC for policies replaced by an­
other similar contract, management should document the 
rationale for its position and that such rollover DAC continues to 
be recoverable.

In the fourth quarter of 2004, AcSEC issued, for comment, a sec­
ond exposure draft of a draft originally issued in March 2003, Ac­
counting by Insurance Enterprises fo r  Deferred Acquisition Costs on 
Internal Replacements. After receiving comment letters and dis­
cussion among AcSEC members and FASB, certain significant 
conclusions on the first draft were altered. The purpose of the ex­
posure draft is to provide guidance on determination of the 
proper accounting by insurance enterprises for DAC on internal 
replacements other than those specifically described in FASB 
Statement No. 97. Areas covered include the following:

• The definition of an internal replacement

• Nonintegrated and integrated contract features
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• Determining whether contracts or modifications involved 
in an internal replacement result in “substantially un­
changed” or “substantially changed” contracts

• Accounting for internal replacements that are substantially 
unchanged or substantially changed sales inducements of­
fered in conjunction with an internal replacement

• The costs and assessments related to an internal replacement

The provisions of the proposed SOP would be effective for inter­
nal replacements occurring in fiscal years beginning after Decem­
ber 15, 2005, with earlier adoption encouraged. The effect of 
initially adopting this SOP would be reported prospectively, with 
restatement of prior issued financial statements prohibited.

Accounting Pipeline— FASB No. 140 Amendment Projects, 
Including Mortgage Servicing Rights

The FASB expects to issue an exposure draft for an amendment 
to Statement No. 140 in the second quarter of 2005 concurrently 
with exposure drafts for projects on beneficial interests in securi­
tized financial assets and qualifying special purpose entities 
(QSPEs) and isolation of transferred assets. The separately issued 
exposure drafts will include a presentation of the proposed revi­
sions to FASB Statement No. 140 reflecting the collective deci­
sions of all three projects. Because so many other issues came to 
the fore during deliberations on FASB Statement No. 140, such 
as accounting for loan participations and the right of set off as 
well as the valuation of mortgage servicing rights, the structure of 
the project has evolved to the above described scope.

The original project was initiated because by allowing QSPEs to 
be an exception to consolidation, FASB Interpretation No. 46, 
Consolidation o f  Variable Interest Entities, created an incentive for 
people to convert certain entities to QSPEs. The project origi­
nally specified conditions under which a QSPE is permitted to 
issue beneficial interest with maturities that are shorter than the 
QSPE assets and roll over those beneficial interests at maturity. 
The original project also clarified or amended other requirements 
of the statement related to commitments by transferors, their af­
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filiates, and their agents to provide additional assets to fulfill 
obligations to beneficial interest holders.

Mortgage-Servicing Rights
Some insurance entities have been significantly increasing their 
real estate loan portfolios, as well as enhancing their servicing 
portfolios of loans sold in the secondary market with servicing re­
tained by the entity. Entities in recent years have been much 
more likely than in the past to retain servicing for loans sold to 
secondary market investors. Not only has the number of compa­
nies that are servicing portfolios grown considerably, but the size 
and dollar amount of entities’ servicing have also increased. Con­
versely, the recent refinancing boom has adversely affected certain 
entities, as borrowers have moved to other entities in the highly 
competitive market.

Current FASB Statement No. 140 guidance notes that mortgage- 
servicing rights (MSRs) are recorded at the lower of cost or mar­
ket. The FASB has noted difficulties related to the hedging of 
MSRs since the fair value of MSRs does not change in a linear 
fashion due to the nature of prepayment estimates. This causes 
MSRs to lose value at a faster rate when interest rates decline than 
the rate at which MSRs gain value when interest rates increase. 
By reporting MSRs at fair value, relief will be provided from the 
substantial recordkeeping requirements needed to obtain hedge 
accounting treatment. Check the FASB Web site at www.fasb.org 
for the most recent deliberation decisions on this project. An ex­
posure draft is expected in the second quarter of 2005.

Accounting Pipeline— Other Projects

FASB Project on Business Combinations: Purchase 
Methods Procedures
This FASB project addresses the accounting and reporting for 
certain business acquisitions. There will be two exposure drafts is­
sued because this project is being developed with the Interna­
tional Accounting Standards Board. One project objective is to
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require that the acquiring entity in a business combination ac­
count for the business acquired at its fair value at the acquisition 
date. The project encompasses financial reporting by all acquiring 
business enterprises, including mutual enterprises (such as mu­
tual insurance companies). The project will not apply to the for­
mations of joint ventures, transactions or events between entities 
under common control, combinations between not-for-profit or­
ganizations, or acquisitions of a for-profit business by a not-for- 
profit organization. To allow sufficient time for the development, 
the exposure draft issuance is planned for the fourth quarter of
2004. For further insurance specific information see the section 
“Insurance Purchase Accounting News” in the “Accounting and 
Auditing” section of this Alert.

Exposure Draft on Fair Value Measurements
The FASB has issued an exposure draft entitled Fair Value Mea­
surements, which seeks to establish a framework for measuring fair 
value that would apply broadly to financial and nonfinancial as­
sets and liabilities, improving the consistency, comparability, and 
reliability of measurements. The exposure draft would replace 
any current guidance for measuring fair value and would also ex­
pand the disclosure requirements. The proposed effective date for 
this standard would be for financial statements issued for fiscal 
years beginning after June 15, 2005, and all interim periods 
within those fiscal years.

Equity (Stock) Based Compensation
On March 31, 2004, the FASB issued an exposure draft, Share- 
Based Payment, an Amendment o f  FASB Statements No. 123 and 95. 
The exposure draft seeks to improve existing accounting rules 
and provides more complete, higher quality information for in­
vestors. The proposed change in accounting would replace exist­
ing requirements under FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting fo r  
Stock-Based Compensation, and ABP Opinion No. 25, Accounting 
fo r  Stock Issued to Employees. You can keep abreast of current de­
velopments at www.fasb.org/project/equity-based_comp.shtml.
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Resource Central
Presented below are various resources that practitioners engaged 
in the insurance industry may find beneficial.

On the Bookshelf
The following publications deliver valuable guidance and practi­
cal assistance as potent tools to be used on your engagements:

• Audit and Accounting Guide Life and Health Insurance En­
tities (product no. 012634kk)

• Audit and Accounting Guide Property and Liability Insur­
ance Companies (product no. 012674kk)

• Audit Guide Auditing Derivative Instruments, Hedging Ac­
tivities, and Investments in Securities (product no. 
012520kk)

• Audit Guide Auditing Revenue in Certain Industries (prod­
uct no. 012514kk)

• Audit Guide Audit Sampling (product no. 012530kk)

• Audit Guide Analytical Procedures (product no. 012554kk)

• Checklists and Illustrative Financial Statements Life and  
Health Insurance Entities (product no. 008954kk)

• Checklists and Illustrative Financial Statements Property & 
Liability Insurance Companies (product no. 008964kk)

• Practice Aid Auditing Estimates and Other Soft Accounting 
Information (product no. 010010kk)

• Practice Aid Fraud Detection in a GAAS Audit: Revised Edi­
tion (product no. 006615kk)

• Practice Aid Preparing and Reporting on Cash- and  Tax- 
Basis Financial Statements (product no. 006701kk)

• Accounting Trends & Techniques—2004 (product no. 
009896kk)
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• Audit and Accounting Manual (product no. 005134) (The 
manual is a valuable nonauthoritative practice tool de­
signed to provide assistance for audit, review, and compila­
tion engagements. It contains numerous practice aids, 
samples, and illustrations, including audit programs, audi­
tor’s reports, checklists, and engagement letters; manage­
ment representation letters; and confirmation letters.)

AICPA reSOURCE On-line
Get access—any time, anywhere—to the AICPA’s latest Profes­
sional Standards, Technical Practice Aids, Audit and Accounting 
Guides, Audit Risk Alerts, and Accounting Trends & Techniques. 
To subscribe to this essential service, go to www.cpa2biz.com.

CD-ROMS
The AICPA is currently offering a CD-ROM product entitled 
reSOURCE: AICPA’s Accounting and Auditing Literature. This 
CD-ROM enables subscription access to AICPA Professional Lit­
erature products in a Windows format, including Professional 
Standards, Technical Practice Aids, and Audit and Accounting 
Guides (available for purchase as a set that includes all Guides 
and the related Audit Risk Alerts, or as individual publications). 
This dynamic product allows you to purchase the specific titles 
you need and includes hypertext links to references within and 
between all products.

Continuing Professional Education
The AICPA has developed a number of continuing professional 
education (CPE) courses that are valuable to CPAs working in 
the insurance industry. Those courses include:

• AICPA's Annual Accounting and Auditing Update Workshop 
(product no. 736180kk [text] and 187188 [DVD] or 187088 
[Video]). Whether you are in industry or public practice, 
this course keeps you current, informed, and shows you 
how to apply the most recent standards.

• SEC Reporting (product no. 736770kk (text) and 186751kk 
(video)). This course will help the practicing CPA and cor­
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porate financial officer learn to apply SEC reporting re­
quirements. It clarifies the more important and difficult 
disclosure requirements.

Online CPE
AICPA InfoBytes, offered exclusively through CPA2biz.com, is 
the AICPA's flagship online learning product. Selected as one of 
Accounting Todays top 100 products for 2003, AICPA InfoBytes 
now offers a free trial subscription to the entire product for up to 
30 days. AICPA members pay $149 ($369 nonmembers) for a 
new subscription and $119 ($319 nonmembers) for the annual 
renewal. Divided into one- and two- credit courses that are avail­
able 24/7, AICPA InfoBytes offers hundreds of hours of learning 
in a wide variety of topics. To register or learn more, visit 
www.cpa2biz.com/infobytes.

AICPA Practice Pro is an annual online subscription program de­
signed for accountants in public practice. The subscription deliv­
ers hottest topics to your desktop—each month six new courses 
arrive, covering tax, auditing, and accounting. Courses feature 
streaming video, course outlines, online transcripts, and quizzes. 
Choose from courses in financial reporting, auditing, financial 
planning, estate planning, individual and business tax, and ethics. 
(product no. SP1-XXkk)

AICPA Financial Pro is an annual online subscription program 
designed for accountants in business and industry. The subscrip­
tion delivers hottest topics to your desktop—each month four 
new courses arrive covering current topics of interest to corporate 
accountants and financial managers. Courses feature streamlining 
video, course outlines, online transcripts, and quizzes. Choose 
from courses in audit, economics, e-commerce, financial report­
ing, information systems, managerial accounting, security and 
control, tax, and more. (product no. SP2-XXkk)

AICPA Online and CPA2Biz
AICPA Online offers CPAs the unique opportunity to stay 
abreast of matters relevant to the CPA profession. AICPA Online 
informs you of developments in the accounting and auditing
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world as well as developments in congressional and political af­
fairs affecting CPAs. In addition, CPA2biz.com offers all the lat­
est AICPA products, including the Audit Risk Alerts, Audit and 
Accounting Guides, Professional Standards, and CPE courses. To 
learn more, visit www.aicpa.org.

AICPA Service Center Operations
To order AICPA products, receive information about AICPA ac­
tivities, and find help on your membership questions call the 
AICPA Service Center Operations at (888) 777-7077. The best 
times to call are 8:30 a.m. to 11:30 a.m. and 2:00 p.m. to 7:30 
p.m., Eastern Standard Time. You can also order AICPA products 
from Service Center Operations by facsimile at (800) 362-5066 
or visit www.cpa2biz.com to obtain product information and 
place online orders.

AlCPA’s Antifraud and Corporate Responsibility Resource Center
The AICPA’s Antifraud and Corporate Responsibility Resource 
Center (www.aicpa.org/antifraud/) allows you to select optional 
ways to learn about fraud. The Center spotlights the new Web- 
based fraud and ethics case studies and commentaries recently is­
sued; the AICPA antifraud Webcast series; the interactive CPA 
course Fraud and the CPA, and a competency model that allows 
you to assess your overall skills and proficiencies as they relate to 
fraud prevention, detection, and investigation, among other top­
ics. In addition, the site offers press releases and newsworthy 
items on other AICPA courses related to prevention and detec­
tion and an overview of the AICPA Antifraud and Corporate Re­
sponsibility Program.

Hotlines
Accounting and Auditing Technical Hotline
The AICPA Technical Hotline answers members’ inquiries about 
accounting, auditing, attestation, compilation, and review ser­
vices. Call (888) 777-7077.
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The AICPA Sarbanes-Oxley Act Hotline
If you have questions regarding the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
call (866) 265-1977.

Ethics Hotline
Members of the AICPA’s Professional Ethics Team answer in­
quiries concerning independence and other behavioral issues re­
lated to the application of the AICPA Code of Professional 
Conduct. Call (888) 777-7077.

Fax Hotline
The AICPA has a 24-hour fax system that enables interested per­
sons to obtain information that includes, for example, current 
AICPA comment letters, conference brochures and registration 
forms, CPE information, actions of the Accounting Standards 
Executive committee (AcSEC), and legislative news. To access the 
hotline, dial (201) 938-3787 from a fax machine and follow the 
voice cues.

Webcasts
When planning your engagements, you can join the many practi­
tioners who have participated in AICPA Webcasts. Webcasts are 
an exceptional way to stay current on todays professional issues. 
Led by recognized experts, Webcasts provide complete briefings 
on a variety of pertinent practice topics. During a two-hour live 
Webcast, participants have the opportunity to e-mail and ask 
questions of expert panelists.

Additionally, past archived Webcasts are available in CD format and 
can be accessed at www.cpa2biz.com/CS2000/Products/Product+ 
Detail.htm?cs_id={97573D6D-56D1-426C-84E1-56DBF55E42DE} 
&cs_catalog=CPA2Biz&cs_category=accounting_auditing. CPE 
credit is earned for both live and CD version participation.
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Additional Information Sources
Further information on matters addressed in this Audit Risk 
Alert is available through various publications and services of­
fered by a number of organizations. Some of those organizations 
are listed at the end of this Alert.

This Audit Risk Alert replaces the Insurance Industry Develop­
ments—2003/2004 Audit Risk Alert. The Insurance Industry De­
velopments Alert is published annually. As you encounter audit or 
industry issues that you believe warrant discussion in next year's 
Alert, please feel free to share them with us. Any other comments 
that you have about the Alert would also be appreciated. You may 
e-mail these comments to jgould@aicpa.org, or write to:

Julie Gould, CPA 
AICPA
Harborside Financial Center
201 Plaza Three
Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881

This Alert is intended to be used in conjunction with the AICPA 
general Audit Risk Alert—2004/05. We also suggest that you re­
view the annual AICPA Audit Risk Alerts Securities Industry De­
velopments—2004/05, Bank, Credit Union, and Other Depository 
and Lending Institution Industry Developments—2004/05, and In­
vestment Companies Industry Developments—2004/05, if you have 
clients or business lines that encompass related activities.
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